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mine than anybody thought at first because there are no simple an-
swers—at least there are no simple answers that are worth much.

Perhaps I can illustrate this point by listing a few of the questions
we have asked ourselves about the kinds of instructional materials that
will do the best job of representing minority groups.

1. At first we asked ourselves whether we should develop special
books for schools that have largely nonwhite (or other minority
groups) students in order to provide them with stories, for instance,
that are more relevant to their environment than the “Dick and Jane”
stories of the past.

We decided that we should, and the “Skyline Series” is one of the
results of that decision. Obviously the answer was not simply to retain
the stories and change the illustrations to include a few dark-skinned
children. Nor was the answer to include stories about A frican children
or dark-skinned children in other parts of the world.

If the books were to penetrate to the heart of the problem, the stories
themselves should reflect the environment and the experience, the satis-
factions and frustrations of children living largely in urban ghettos.

2. But readers such as the “Skyline Series” with their warm and
friendly stories and illustrations also met the needs of children in
schools attended largely or entirely by white pupils. For these chil-
dren the “Skyline Series” made them aware of the common bond of
all children regardless of racial background or environment.

3. What about reading level : Don’t minority group children in city
schools have less verbal ability than white children in suburban
schools? Or is it more accurate to say that children of all groups who
live in slums are apt to have less verbal ability than children of all
groups who live in the suburbs. Webelieve the latter is more accurate,
and that is why there is as much concern now for multilevel materials
as for multiracial materials. : ' :

4. Related to this is the matter of motivation. Books and films with
high motivational value will do a lot more good than materials with-
out it. Do the same things motivate minority group children that
motivate other children? Probably yes, but the answer to this is not
at all clear.

5. Elaborating on this point, should stories use the idiomatic lan-
guage of the minority group? Or, forgetting the minority group
origin, should the characters in stories with slum settings speak the
language of theslum? That might make them moremeaningful. But
reading teachers are trying to get the children to speak better English,
and won’t the slang in the stories hurt this effort? (Some good re-
search is being done 1n this whole area.)

6. To touch on a particularly sensitive matter, what type of Negro
should be used in illustrations to represent the whole group? In our
opinion, the illustrations should be representative of all of America’s

egroes in order to show that they have different physical characteris-
ties and a wide range of color (just as white people do), and that they
are found at all levels of our society. And the same thing applies to
other minority groups: Jews, Spanish-Americans, Orientals, and
Puerto Ricans.

7. Turning to the development in Negroes (and in all children, for
that matter) of a better understanding of the contribution of minority
groups to American history and life, what are the best ways to do it?
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And in what subjects? Or in all subjects? There are some obvious
answers, like the development of book units or films on Negro history,
but there are also many less obvious possibilities.

For instance, in material on the westward expansion of the country,
why did the American Indian react as he did, what was his philosophy,
and what impact did his actions have on the makeup of the westward
movement, itself?

What is the significance of the role of Negroes as soldiers in the
Civil War, and in subsequent wars? The possibilities are endless and
there is no lack of good source material.

8. In illustrative test writing, what role do you put nonwhites in?
For instance, in the occupational books referred to earlier, that is,
“Charley the TV Repairman” and “Alice the Waitress,” who should
be the Negro, who should be the white, and who should be the Jew ?

Mixing them up makes the examples more realistic and therefore
more apt to hold the student’s interest; and the choices we make of
these alternatives will also influence the attitudes of the students,
simply because the attitudes of Negroes toward Jews are involved
(temember that Charles is a Negro boy who gets a job with a Jewish
boss) and because most whites still think of white bosses and Negro
subordinates (but Alice is white and goes to a Negro guidance coun-
selor for advice).

9. Speaking of motivation, how do you draw on the strengths of
llilinority groups? For instance, the independence that many of them

ave.

10. Perhaps most important of all, how do you get at the attitudes
of teachers themselves, because they are a much greater force in edu-
cation than publishers or their books and films. That is why we did
the film series on teaching the disadvantaged child, and why we rec-
ognize that much more needs to be done. ‘

I have cited these examples of our concern merely to make the point
that the effective representation of minority groups requires the most
thoughtful and inbeﬁectua,lly honest editorial effort we can apply to it.

Mr, Burton. Mr. Locke, with your indulgence we have a Member
of the House here who had to leave another meeting and must return
quickly. Would you object if we have Congressman Gettys and his
people come up?

Mr. Gerrys. Thank you very much.

If I may introduce the men from my State and let them take their
regular order, we would not interrupt the witness.

Mr. Burton. I would prefer that if that is acceptable to you.

Mr. Gerrys. Thank you very much. We appreciate your kindness
in interrupting the witness.

I have, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, Dr. J. Car-
lisle Holler, who is the director of the division of instruction of
South Carolina Board of Education and the witness, Mr. H. C.
Quarles, director of the division of textbooks, South Carolina De-
partment of Education. I would like to introduce them to the com-
mittee and I thank the committee again for indulging me this oppor-
tunity. ‘

Mr. Burron. Thank you, Congressman. We welcome the gentle-
men.
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Mr. Bravemas. I know Mr. Locke’s testimony is not much longer.
In my view it is extremely well prepared. I think we might let him
go ahead and read the balance of it.

Mr. Burron. With that suggestion, you may proceed, Mr. Locke.

Now, that we have the time problem out of the way, don’t feel the

need to rush through what you have to say.

" Mr. Locke. It is difficult to comment precisely about this matter
because we submit all books and films wherever possible and when-
ever we think that a school is either interested in them or has the funds
to buy them or has called for a specific adoption.

Since we are competing against the books and other materials of all
publishers, we are obviously not successful in every presentation we
make. As a rule, the selecting authority, which varies from system to
system and State to State, and which can be an individual, a commit-
tee, or a State board, does not provide us with an explanation as to
why our book was not selected. :

In an effort to get some precise information about the pattern of
sales for some of our books and films that are particularly forthright
in their treatment of minority groups, I have obtained the sales records
for the first half of 1966 of most of the books and films cited earlier
in this statement, and they are included in the exhibit that I am sub-
mitting to the committee. I have studied these sales reports and do
not feel that I can draw any valid conclusions from them.

Trends in the costs of books and tests since the passage of NDEA and
up to and including ESEA

I assume that the committee wants to know what has happened to
the prices of books and films that have sold best because of such Fed-
eral programs as NDEA and ESEA. I can make the following state-
ments for McGraw-Hill :

1. NDEA had its principal impact for us in the sale of films and
filmstrips, although the impact was not significant until about 1962
or 1963. Although costs have risen, our film and filmstrip prices have
changed very little in recent years, as the following table will show
for the past 5 years:

Effect on
Prices Percent of | total price-
Year changed total titles level

. (percent)
1962, 113 10.3 =+1.0
1963. iy 79 7.2 +3.0
1964, 56 5.6 =+0.5
1965 NON€ |ocomcmceee No change
1966. 25 2.5 =+0.2

2. The impact on our sales of ESEA has naturally been very re-
cent—in fact, almost entirely during 1966—and principally in the sale
of reading programs. MecGraw-Hill is the publisher of “Programed
Reading,” developed by Dr. M. W. Sullivan, and its sales have risen
sharply this year. The table in appendix 5 shows the prices of all the
units of “Programed Reading” since publication of the first units in
1963. The increases have been extremely nominal.
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Anticipated needs for increased expenditures by schools for texts and
library books

Purchases of new textbooks and other instructional materials have
risen sharply this year because of ESEA, and part of the gap has been
closed between what should be done for schoolchildren and what is
being done.

The dramatic growth in reading cliniecs, for instance, and the wide
use this year of special reading materials should do much to increase
the reading abilities of younger children and reduce the number of
educational problems when the same children reach the dropout age.

However, more is needed, and the following comments may be ap-
propriate:

1. Instructional materials of all sorts are improving rapidly as
educators, authors, and publishers learn more about how best to help
children learn. As the rate of improvement goes up, schools should
replace their old programs more rapidly, and this costs money.

2. Among the newer instructional programs are many nonbook
materials, including films, individual lab kits for science instruction,
and even educational games for preschool programs. They tend to be
expensive and can seldom be purchased by a school unless it literally
multiplies its budget for instructional materials.

These new so-called multimedia programs are often extremely ef-
fective, and schools need more money to buy them.

8. Commissioner Howe has pointed out that the availability of
larger funds for education may result in the sale of untested instruc-
tional materials, and especially of instructional equipment. Much of
it will be unfamiliar to teachers and they may find it difficult to choose
the right programs for their students.

In our view, these newer programs have exciting possibilities for
improved instruction, and they should be well worth their substantial.
cost. However, we share Commissioner Howe’s concern, and we feel
strongly that publishers and other producers of educational materials
and equipment should provide schools with sufficient technical data
as to the effectiveness of their programs so that teachers who are more
at home with books than with films or with instructional equipment
will be able to evaluate them properly.

‘We will both produce these programs and provide technical data as
to their effectiveness.

4. Overriding these considerations, if our present efforts to expand
educational opportunity are successful, they will in turn create greater
demands. As children and older students improve their basic skills
and capacity to learn and grow in their aspirations, they will want and
need even more education.

We should not hold back these aspirations with either ineffectual
or insufficient books, films, or any other kind of instructional materials.
And we have only scratched the surface in preschool programs, educa-
tion for the handicapped, and continuing education. There is much
more to be done, and it will require more money as well as the in-
tellectual efforts of teachers, authors, and publishers.

To conclude, and returning to the question of how minority groups
are represented in textbooks, films, and other materials, I believe that
McGraw-Hill has made good progress, but we must and will do
more.
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(The information referred to follows::)

APPENDIX 1

Books and Other Printed Materials for Classroom Instruction (McGrew-Hill
Book Co.)
Blementary

Experiences in Science (texts and experimental materials for science in grades
1 to 6):

Grade 1 (1966) (p) ' ‘ Grade 4 (1967)

Hot and Cold Solids, Liquids, and Gases
Young Animals : Adaptations
Light and Shadow Atmosphere and Weather
Earth and Sun : Chemical Change
Weather Geologic Processes )
Plants in Spring Ecology
Grade 5 (1967)
Grade 2 (1966) . L.
Magnets Microscopic Life
Batteries Molds
Groups Unpalanced Forces
Balances : Balanced Forces
Air j}{ﬂpping
ivi H . ime
Living Things Grade 6 (1967)
Grade 3 (1966) Electricity
Motion Life Processes of Plants
Earth, Sun, and Seasons : Light
Heat ) Color )
Sound The Universe
Life Histories Continuity of Life

Plant and Animal Responses

Lloyd: You Learn To Type (1966).

Skyline Series (1965) (Brown-Phillips-J: affe-Paul) :
‘Watch Out for C. i
The Hidden Lookout.
‘Who Cares.

Secondary social studies

Eagleton Inst. Politics: The Problems and Promise of American Democracy
(1964). . .

Hemphill : Cavalier Commonwealth (1963).

Smith : Economics for our Times (1966).

Ritter: Our Oriental Americans (1965). )

Senior : Qur Citizens From the Caribbean (1965). -

Olemons : The American Negro (1965).

Barth : Heritage of Liberty (1965). C

Kohn: The World Today : Its Patterns and Cultures (1966).

Kinble : Tropical Africa Today (1965). '

Bertrand : Our Land ina World Setting (1966).

Blaich : The Challenge of Democracy (1966).

Secondary homemaking and guidance
Sturm : Guide to Modern Clothing (1962).
Sorenson : Psychology for Living (1964 ).
Shank : Guide to Modern Meals (1964).
Beery : Manners Made Easy (1966).
Barclay : Teen Guide to Homemaking (1967 ).
Baxter: Your Life in a Big City (1967 ).
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Secondary language arts

Ommanney : The Stage and the School (1960).

Hibbs : Speech for Today (1963).

Carlsen et al. : Insights : Themes in Literature (1967).

Carlsen et al. : Encounters : Themes in Literature (1967).

Carlsen et al. : American Literature : Themes and Writers (1967).
Carlsen et al. : Western Literature : Themes and Writers (1967).

Secondary science
Braungart : Biology—The Study of Living Things (1963).
Diehl : Health and Safety for You (1964).

Secondary driver education
Ameriean Automobile Association : Sportsmanlike Driving (1965).

Secondary vocational
Archer: General Office Practice, 2/e (1963).
Ernest : Salesmanship Fundamentals, 3/e (1965).
Bredow : Medical Secretarial Procedures, 5/e (1966).
Rosenberg : College Business Law, 3/e (1966).
Huffman : Office Procedures and Administration (1965).
Robinson : College Business Organization and Management, 8/e (1964).
Place : College Secretarial Procedures, 3/e (1964).
Tonne : Business Principles, Organization, and Management, 2/e (1963).
Price : General Business for Everyday Living, 3/e (1966).
‘Wilhelms : Consumer Economics, 3/e (1966).
Strony : The Secretary at Work, 3/e (1966).
Wood : The Receptionist (1966).

Basic Education for Drop-Outs, Job Corps Programs, Etc.

Programmed math for adulls: Series One (1965-66) (p)

Book 1—Addition.

Book 2—Advanced Addition.

Book 3—Subiraction.

Book 4—Multiplication.

Book 5-——Division.

Book 1—Problems Involving Basic Addition.

Book 2—Problems Involving Advanced Addition.

Book 3—Problems Involving Subtraction.

Book 4—Problems Involving Multiplication.

Book 5—Problems Involving Division.

Instructor’s Guide for Series One : Books 1-5.

Placement Examination for Programmed Math for Adults, Books 1-5.
Progress Tests for Books 1-5.

‘Achievement Examination for Programmed Math for Adults.

Programmed math for adulls: Series Two (1966)

Book 6—Fractions (p).

Book 7—Decimals and Percentages (p).

Book 8—Measurements.

Book 9—Consumer Math.

Book 10—Personal Math.

Book 6—Problems Involving Fractions.

Book 7—Problems Involving Decimals.

Instructor’s Guide for Series Two : Books 6-10.

‘Advanced Placement Examination for Programmed Math for Aduilts, Books
6-10.

Progress Tests for Books 6-10.

Intermediate Achievement Examination for Programmed Math for Adults.

Programmed math for adults: Series Three (1967)
Book 11—Advanced Personal Math.
Book 12—Understanding Algebra.
Book 13—TUsing Algebra.
Book 14—Using Geometry.
Book 15—Using Trigonometry.
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Instructor’s Guide for Series Three : Books 11-15.
Progress Tests for Books 11-15.
Final Achievement Examination for Programmed Math for Adults.

Programmed reading for adults (1965-66)

Book 1—The Letters of the Alphabet (p).
Book 1—The Letters of the Alphabet, T/E (p).
Book 2—The Sounds of the Letters (p).

Book 2-—The Sounds of the Letters, T/E (p).
Book 3—From Words to Sentences (p)..

Book 4—Sentence Reading (p).

Book 5—Paragraph Reading (p).

Book 6—Consecutive Paragraphs.

Book 7—Content Analysis.

Book 8—Functional Reading.

Diagnostic Placement Test.

Teacher’s Guide to Programmed Reading for Adults.

Step up your reading power—Jim Olsen (1966)

Book A (p).
Book B.

Book C.

Book D.

Book E.
Teacher’s Guide.

Occupational for Vocational Schools and Special Programs, Such as Job Corps

What job for me? (1966-67)
Anton : Charley the TV Repairman (p).
Anton: Cool It Man!
Appleton : John, the Second Best Cook in Town (p).
Agsherman ; Frank the Vending Machine Repairman.
Borisoff ;: Carmen the Beautician.
Borisoff : Nick the Waiter.
Chase and Elmore : Ginny the Office Assistant.
Goodman : Pete the Service Station Attendant (p).
Kipniss : Judy the Waitress.
Lawson : Betty and Her Typewriter.,
Swinburne ;: Joe the Retail Salesman.
Olsen : Sandy the Lineman.
Hamer ; Timo the Draftsman.
Wright : Phil the File Clerk.
APPENDIX 2

Films and Filmstrips for Classroom Instruction

Films which include non-whites
Junior High Guidance Series (1964) :
Improving Study Habits,
Your Junior High Days
Junior High: A Time of Change
United - States Geography-Social Studies Series (1963) :
" The Great Lakes Region: Men, Minerals and Machines.
The Southwest Region: Land of Promise,
The Gulf Coast Region: The South’s Land of Opportunity. -
The Middle Atlantic Seaboard Region: Great Cities—Megalopolis.
The Southern New England Region: New Industries.
AIBS—Unit IV (1961) : Muscles.
General Science Series (1965) : Water and Life.
WF%deral Government Series (1963) : Department of Health, Education and
elfare.
Learning To Understand Children (1947).
The Boston Massacre (1956).
The Emancipation Proclamation (1955).
Puerto Rico : Showcase of America (1962).
Puerto Rico : The Peaceful Revolution (1962).
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Clinton and the Law (1957).
A History of the Negro in America Series (1965) :
A History of the Negro in America—1619-1860: Out of Slavery.
A History of the Negro in America—1861-1877: Civil War and
Reconstruction.
A History of the Negro in America—1877-Today : Freedom Movement.
United States Geography-Social Studies, Set IT (1965) :
Alaska—America’s Northern Frontier.
Hawaii-—America’s Tropical State.
Pacific Northwest—Putting Water to Work.
The Southeast—Challenge and Change.
Human Reproduction, 2/e (1966).

Films which concentrate on inter-group relations

Superfluous People (1963).

The Battle of Newburgh (1963).

Harvest of Shame (1961).

Walk in My Shoes (1963).

Willie Catches on (1963).

Sit-in (1961).

A Day in the Night of Jonathon 3Mole (1960).
High Wall (1952).

Everybody’s Prejudiced (1961).

‘What About Prejudice? (1959).

Filmstrips which include non-whites
Junior High Guidance Series (1963).
United States Geography —Social Studies Series (1963).
Communism : What You Should Know About It and Why (1962).
Democracy : What You Should Kuow About It and Why (1964).
Elementary Economics Series (1960).
United States Geography—Social Studies Series, Set IT (1965).
The History of the American Negro Series (1965).
Learning About Our Language Series, Set I (1966).
College Library Series (1966).

_APPENDIX 3

Teacher-Training Books and Films

Education books

Babbidge & Rosenzweig: The Federal Interest in ngher Bduecation (1962;
OP 5/66). .

Brubacher ;: Bases for Policy in Higher Education (1965).

Brubacher: A History of the Problems of ®ducation, 2/e (1966) (l/e 1947).

Cox and Mercer: Education in Democracy (1961).

DeYoung and Wynn : American Education, 5/e (1964).

Hurlock : Adolescent Development 2/e (1955).

Massialas and Cox : Inquiry in Social Studies (1966)

Richey : Planning for Teaching, 3/e (1963).

‘Wiggin: Education and Nationalism (1962).

Teacher-training fitms

Elementary School Science Teaching Series (1964).

Incident on Wilson Street (1964).

Ways of Learning (1964).

Teaching the Disadvantaged Child (1965) :
Portrait of a Disadvantaged Child—Tommy Knight.
Portrait of the Inner City.
Portrait of the Inner City School—A Place To Learn.
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APPENDIX 4
Books for the General Public, Magazine Articles and Advertising

Books for the general public

Conant : Slums and Suburbs (1961).

Davie : Negroes in American Society (1949).

Humphrey : War on Poverty (1964).

Kvaraceus et al : The Negro Self-Concept (1965).

Sutherland : Letters From Mississippi (1965).

Young: To Be Equal (1964).
Magazine articles .

Copies of articles and editorials from Today’s Secretary, Business Education
World, and Nation’s Schools are attached.
Advertising
. Samples of our advertising for books and films are also included in the
exhibit.

APPENDIX 5

Sullivan programed reading series

Title 1963 1964 1665 1966

Pre-reading . 1.11 ) [0 (1)
Primer_.. .93 ) Q)] 0.99
Book 1 .99 0] O} Y]
Book 2 .99 (] (O] (1)

Book 3 .99 (1) ®) O]
Books 4-10. .99 O] O] 1.11
Books 11-14_ 0.99 @ 1.11
Books 15-21_ 0.99 1.23
Teacher’s Alphabet Cards. ... oo __.o__.__ 2.70 (O] (O] [0
Student’s Alphabet Cards.. 1.38 () [O] (O}
Sound Symbol Cards. oo liococcmcoamcamoooot 1.35 ) (6] 1.44
Teacher’s Guide to Programed Reading. 1.35 o ®

Test Booklet, Series 1. .69 . .72
Placement Examinations. 6. 00 §1)
Guide to Placement Examinations .24 ]
Programed Reading Filmstrip 1 3.75 él) O]
Programed Reading Filmstrip 2 3.75 1) )]
Programed Reading Filmstrip 3. 3.75 1 )
Programed Reading Filmstrip 4. 3.75 (1) [O)]
Programed Reading Filmstrip 5. y 3.75 (1) ) 1)
Programed Reading Filmstrip 6 3.75 (1) (lg
Programed Reading Filmstrip 7 : 3.75 (] (¥
Teacher’s Guide to Filmstrips. .. .72 (1) O]
Teacher’s Guide to Series 2 . .99 o .11
Storybooks 1-3 . .99 ) 1.11
Storybooks 4-7. L1 1,23

1 No change.

Mr. Burton. Mr. Brademas? :

Mr. Brapemas. Thank you very much. I would like to say at the
outset that I found your statement 2 most impressive one for a couple
of reasons: one, you didn’t pretend you had solved all the questions,
and, two, you raised relevant issues. ;

Have you found at McGraw-Hill any resistance in selling your text-
books on the part of school systems because, as you indicated, the
materials you produce are integrated ?

Mr. Locke. Let me answer a couple of different ways. There is no
specific evidence, that T know of, of resistance on the part of school
boards, teachers, or any other authorities to buy textbooks which are
notably integrated.

" However, I can’t help believing there is some resistance because
people choose textbooks for all sorts of different reasons. There must
be some people in this country who would prefer not to use integrated
textbooks. However, we have no specific evidence of that.

71-368—66——14
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Much more important than that, we have had a lot of discussion
with people about the way we have presented minority groups. AsI
tried to point out, this is a very difficult and sophisticated question.

As T tried to point out, most publishers operate under the handicap
that their editorial staffs are largely made up, almost entirely of
middle-class whites. It is very diflicult for someone like me to develop
a really sophisticated understanding of the problems of disadvantaged
children and children in minority groups and, unless you do, you can’t
do a proper job of producing educational materials.

Mr. Brabemas. This brings me to my next question: How do you
determine what texts or other teaching materials you are going to de-
velop? You indicated in your testimony that it takes several years to
develop in line of textbooks, something, I think, the lay public does not

enerally realize. How do you decide you are going to undertake the
%ky Line Series as distinguished from other series of a different nature
and content? How do you determine what goes into those textbooks?
What kind of process. mtellectually, do you use? Who writes them?

Mr. LockEe. First of all, I should be quite frank to say that the first
thing we think about is how large the market is, how strong some of
the other books are, and what our relative capacities are in that par-
ticular field. If it is a field where we happen to have some strength
and know what is being done, we are more likely to do something new
in that field than in a field where we don’t have much confidence.
That is basically the first decision.

Fields vary almost as much as books. There are some fields where
we have to do most of the writing ourselves. We conceive it and write
it. Sometimes we find an author, but in most cases the staff writes,
makes the photographs, and prepares the artwork.

Generally at t%e high school level, the authorship is superior and we
do much less editorial work. We basically supplement what the
author does.

Mr, Brapenas. T take it that a presupposition of all our discussion
here is that textbooks are at least one of the essential factors in the
learning process of children. To what extent do textbook publishers,
McGraw-Hill in particular, enter into conversation with people doing
research in education, research in the learning process?

I don’t need to elaborate on my question, do 1?2

Mr. Locke. As much as we can. You can’t do a decent job in this
business unless you spend as much time as you possibly ean talking to
teachers and talking to people doing research on the education process.

Mr. BrapEmas. Now, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act
has authorized $45 million more money to establish regional research
laboratories across the United States. Would textbook publishers be in
touch with such laboratories?

Mr. Locke. Yes, sir; we are.

Mr. Brapemas. You indicated in your testimony your awareness of
the crucial role of teachers in publishing textbooks. Is there some sort
of network of seminars across the United States at which seminars you
can say to teachers: “Look, this is the purpose of this particular series.
This is the way we intend it to be used. Have you any questions or sug-
gestions?”

Mr. Locke. Yes, I think the most accurate answer is “Yes,” but it
varies. Many textbook salesmen, the best of them, are former teachers
and men who really understand the problems of teachers. In the course
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of their regular calls, they are doing a lot to help teachers understand
the objectives for which we developed a particular series, the way
the series can be used and, in effect, are helping teachers plan their
courses and the use of materials.

I think you find the better salesmen of virtually all textbook pub-
lishers do that.

Beyond that, we and other publishers put on workshops. We, for
instance, run a great many workshops in business education. Here
we have a strong group. McGraw-Hill publishes Gregg Shorthand
and a typing program. We, in effect, developed the system and prob-
ably have done more to shape the way in which shorthand is taught
than any other organization.

There is a real demand for us to put on workshops for teachers in the
techniques of teaching shorthand; and we do. This is something I
think there will be a lot more of in the future.

Mr. Brabemas. I had more particularly in mind the question of
teaching teachers how to use the texts in areas where they are teaching
disadvantaged children, which poses, I should think, a much more com-
plicated problem.

Mr. Locee. We have not done that.

Mr. Brabemas. Don’t you think that would be a good thing?

Mr. Locke. Yes.

Mr. Brapemas. Have you at McGraw-Hill, purchased any audio-
visual or electronics company, or have you not got into that yet?

Mr. Locke. Twenty years ago we started a text-film program. At
the time, thanks to what was done in World War I, it was clear audio-
visual instruction could play a real part in the whole instructional
process. It wasn’t clear how anybody could make any money, but we
took a fling and built a very large film business.

Our sales this year of nonprinted materials to schools will be some-
thing like 20 percent of our sales to schools.

- Beyond that in other parts of our publishing program we developed
records, tapes and other nonprinted materials. We are—if everythin,
goes smoothly—now, in the process of merging with the Educationa.
Developments Laboratories of Huntington, Long Island, who are pro-
ducers of a system for reading instruction.

They say E.D.L. has a developmental reading program which in-
volves special educational reading equipment plus a filmstrip input.
The two are tied completely together so one is useless without the other.
This is probably the most effective piece of instructional technology
available. ‘

Mr. Brabemas. A couple of other quick questions.

Do you sell books to parochial schools and, if so, what percent of
your total sales would that represent of sales to elementary and sec-
ondary schools?

Mr. Locke. We do but I don’t know the percentage. I could get that
figure, if you wish. '

Mr. Bravemas. That might be of interest.

(The requested information follows:)
SEPTEMBER 12, 1966.
Hon. JOHN BRADEMAS,
House of Representatives,
Washington, D.C.
DeAR MR. BRADEMAS : I now have the figures on our sales to Catholie schools.
During 1964 they were 11.4 percent of our sales, and in 1965 they were again 11.4
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percent. I don’t know how they managed to be exactly the same percentage each
year, but they did.
Sincerely yours,
RoBerT W. LOCKE,
Senior Vice President, McGraw-Hill Book Co.

Mr. Brapemas. My other question has to do with a statement I
have heard to the effect that American textbook publishers give dis-
counts for large order purchases to retail stores but not to school
systems. Isthistrue?

Mr. Locke. Ithink that statement could refer only to what is known
as trade books, which would include children’s books, but the state-
ment, as far as I know, cannot be applied to textbooks. Our dis-
count for textbooks is 25 percent and we grant that to schools, job-
bers, and stores and do not exceed it under any circumstances.

Mr. Brabeyas. If you sold children’s books as distinguished from
textbooks to a school library, the library people would not receive a
discount ?

Mr. Locke. Yes, they would.

Mr. Brapraas. I don’t ask the question from prejudice but for my
information.

Mr. Locke. I presume yvour question has to do with library bind-
ing matter, but I would prefer not to comment on that because we do

roduce children’s books in library bindings. We have a suit pend-
ing in Philadelphia. Furthermore it happens to be a part of our
business with which I have had virtually no experience. I am not
competent to comment on it.

Mr. Brapeamas. My last question has to do with the indication in
your testimony that there has been substantial impact caused by the
recently enacted elementary and secondary school legislation on the
sales or purchase of textbooks for elementary and secondary schools.

Has your firm found that the availability of these Federal funds
for the purchase of books for schools has caused any substantial fears
of Federal control of these books, fears on the part of either local or
State authorities?

Mr. Locke. I think I would say no to that, although it is a difficult
question to answer quite that directly. I heard more concern yester-
day about that in the hearing here. R

Mr. Brapemas. When your salesmen go out into the school systems,
are you suggesting that so far as you know, they don’t find great
concern expressed by the local and State school authorities that these
Federal funds are going to be followed by control over the content of
the books? :

Mr. Locke. No, I would say the greatest concern we have heard
has been all the paperwork required to get projects approved. I
would guess that 1s something that won’t last too long because most
of tllzle schools have added someone to help take care of the paper-
work. :

Mr. Brapeamas. Thank you very much.

Mr. Lockz. Could I correct a statement which Mr. Brademas read
into the record? I am referring to the piece which appeared in the
Times on Sunday. That was a little misleading. As I recall the story
in the Times said that the average profit of textbook publishers last
year on elementary and secondary textboolks was 10 percent.

Mr. Brabenas. I think what it said was that the average—we will
check the article for the accurate figure—that the average profit in-
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crease for the six leading firms, of which McGraw-Hill was one, as
distinguished from all textbook firms was 8 percent.

Am I wrong about that? :

Mr. Locke. You may be correct. The average profit last year after
taxes of the six or seven largest elementary and secondary publishers
was about 8 percent; the average of all was more like 7 percent. These
figures are available from the American Textbook Publishers Institute.
I would doubt, frankly, if the profit this year was as high as 10 per-
cent.

All are selling more books, and especially films, than we expected.
We are glad we are; but frankly I doubt if profit margins will go up
that much. '

Mr. Bravemas. If you would like to submit a corrected or additional
information, I am sure the committee would be glad to have it.

Thank you again for your statement.

(The information follows:)

McGRrAW-HILL BooK COMPANY,
New York, N.Y., September 7, 1966.
Hon. JOEN BRADEMAS,

House of Representatives,
Washington, D.C.

My DEAR MR. BRADEMAS: To pursue the matter of publishing profits that came
up last Tuesday during the hearing on the representation of minority groups in
textbooks, I checked the figures developed by the American Textbook Publishers
Institute through its regular independent statistical study. In 1965 the average
net profit after taxes of 32 elementary and secondary publishing operations was
7.9 percent. This is not the average profit of all of the firms that have some
-educational publishing activities, but rather the profits of those activities them-
selves. For instance, in McGraw-Hill’s case, we report the profits of our educa-
tional divisions but not of the whole company since we aslo publish in other
areas. Since your concern is the sale of instructional materials to schools, and
the profits therefrom, the ATPI figures are really more relevant than the figures
quoted in the Times. Incidentally, the ATPI does not make these figures public,
although some other parts of the annual statistical survey are released to the
press.

I will find out for you what percentage of our sales at the elementary and
‘secondary level are to Catholic schools, but this will take a little more time. We
-don’t break our figures out this way so they are not readily available.

I enjoyed the opportunity to testify before the subcommittee on Tuesday, and
I particularly enjoyed the exchange with you since you obviously understand a
lot about our business. I hope that we will have an opportunity to meet again in
the future.

Sincerely yours,
ROBERT W. LOCKE.
Mr. Borron. Congressman Carey ? :
Mr. Carey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
. I should like to pursue the point just covered by Mr. Brademas at a
little greater length. I, too, read the recital in the business section of
the New York Times of the attractive prospects in stock purchases of
textbook publishing concerns, which was developed by those interested
in selling stocks.

Since I first raised this point on the increased cost of text materials
and increased profits for textbook publishers in the very earg days of
the hearings on the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, I am
entirely satisfied that you have a clean slate. ~But, could you tell us
something about the small textbook publishing firms you have acquired
in the last few years?

How many small companies have you acquired ?
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Mr. Locke. We acquired last year a test publishing firm, California
Test Publishing Laboratories, which is not a textbook publishing firm.

We felt for a long time that to do a thorough job we should have
competence in evaluation, which is what test publishing is all about.
If you take that position you have two alternatives: one is to start from
scratch to develop new tests; that is, standardized intelligence or
achievement tests, or both, or to acquire a company that is already in
the business and for one reason or another wishes to sell out.

We felt that the latter made more sense because time was short, and
the development of an achievement test takes longer than the develop-
ment of a textbook. It is a very technical process. We felt the best
move for us wasto acquire a test company if we could.

Mr. Carey. I am not questioning the wisdom of your acquisitions.
T just want to know how many additional companies were purchased
by the textbook publishers in the past year?

Mr. Locke. California Test Labs was one, another is the Educational
Development Laboratories, for which we have an agreement now in
process for purchase. EDL is not a textbook publisher, but the
developer of basic materials.

‘We don’t believe the answer to the production of elementary mate-
rials is the acquisition by industrial companies of hardware companies
who can increase their input. We think we know more about text-
books than the hardware people; but we recognize we need the compe-
tences to develop educational materials.

That is basically what the acquisition of EDL by McGraw-Hill
means. ,

Mr. Carey. What percent of elementary and secondary school text-
books is represented by McGraw-Hill in the percent of your sales?

" Mr. Locke. Approximately 12 or 18 percent. I don’t know the exact
gure.

“Mr. Carey. Let’s say the elementary school field alone. How much
of the elementary textbook market for new books is sold by McGraw-
Hill? ‘ :

Mr. Locke. Our percent of total elementary sales would be less than
that. We are stronger at the secondary level. I don’t know exactly
what it is, but it would be something under 10 percent at the elemen-
tary level. _ ' :

Mr. Carey. In response to a question by Mr. Brademas you said you
expected to increase your profit percent?

Mr. Locke. Yes.

Mr. Carey. To alevel of about 8 percent?

Mr. Locke. I wishI could tell you. Qur profits after taxeslast year
at the elementary and secondary level were around 8 percent; I guess
this year they will be slightly more than that. I doubt if they will
be 10 percent. I wish they would be.

Mr. Carey. Has an additional volume of sales been stimulated by
sales under the new educational laws?

Mr. Locke. My guess is that something like 80 or 40 percent of our
increase in sales this year at the elementary and secondary level will be
as a result of NDEA funds or ESEA funds. '

Mr. Carey. I noticed the drug and pharmaceutical industry, when
they anticipated increased volume of sales resulting from medicare,
held a series of conferences with the appropriate officials in the De-
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partment of Health, Education, and Welfare, to take into consideration
the anticipated volume of purchases and appropriate discounts on these
sales.

This was initiated by drug officials, and I thoroughly endorse this
action. With this anticipation of increase in sales volumes under
NDEA and ESEA, have you undertaken any conferences with educa-
tional officials in the country about volume purchases?

Mr. Locks. No.

Mzr. Carey. Do you think that would be in order in a governmental
activity where you would not need to exert pressure for sales?

Mzr. Lockr. Nobody will buy anything unless they think it is good.
So part of the increased sales is actually the result of a great deal of
intellectually honest work in producing the materials in the first place.

Secondly, we are working very hard selling to people who have got-
ten Federal funds. Granted, we have a larger market but we are work-
ing very hard to get a reasonable share of that market. ‘

Mr. Carey. Isn't it true also that your industry particularly has
undergone vast new technological changes in the automation of pub-
lishi;lg materials? Hasn’t there been a great saving by this automa-
tion?

Mr. Locke. Noj; I would not agree with that. Computerized type-
setting has been of some use where great speed is of importance but
speed of typesetting is of absolutely no concern in materials like this.

(At this point, the witness held up a sheet of color pictures.)

Mr. Caruy. These are supplemental materials?

Mr. Looks. These are not supplementary. This is part of an ele-
mentary science program for the first through sixth grades.

Mr. Carey. In programing your profit, if it does increase due to
volume, are you devoting this to increased research in materials?

Mr. Locke. Yes, I think we are, but not simply because more funds
are available. Our feeling is that instructional materials are on the
verge of a tremendous transformation. Over the last 8, 4, or 5 years,
we have learned there are other kinds of materials that are as effective
for specific uses as textbooks and that, in fact, there are some much
more effective textbooks in certain situations. We are beginning to
learn how to use equipment properly in education.

There are some good examples now like language labs which have
enormously instructive value. Computerized instruction is going to
come, I believe. It is technically feasible. There has been enough
effectiveness to show it can make a large contribution to education.

This represents the kind of publishing we have done for a long
time. In order to play our part we are going to have to do much more
research than we have done in the past. We have to think very seri-
ously of the problem of ‘teachers; they are not familiar with non-
printed material. There are thousands of teachers that don’t know
how to thread a motion picture projector.

We have to do much more than we have ever done in the past to
show teachers how to use materials correctly and how to do it effect-
ively. The need for research is far greater than it has ever been
before. Whether there were Federal funds or not, we would be
spending more money on research. »

Mr. Carey. Let me talk a moment about the difference in purchas-
ing techniques and the difference in acquisition of books in public
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schools and nonpublic schools. It is true in nonpublic schools, most
parents have to purchase the books for the children as distinguished
from the public system where books are free.

Mr. Locke. I would say in most private schools the school purchases
the books and the cost of the books is part of the tuition the parent
pays.

Mr. Carey. Directly or indirectly the books are paid for?

Mr. Locgs. Yes, by the parents. '

Mr. Carey. Whereas, the books in public schools are free?

Mr. LocgEe. Yes.

Mr. Carey. Do you determine any difference in the quality of the
books by reason of the means of acquisition ?

Mr. Loocss. I don’t think, as a general answer, that would mean
much. There is, however, a great deal of difference in the selection
policies of schools of all kinds. I can think of private schools which,
because of limited funds, are using books that are now quite old.

Mr. Carey. That is what I am getting at.

Mr. Looxs. There are private schools because of limited funds
using books quite old. I don’t think there is any pattern. I would
say public schools are the beneficiary of Federal funds and private
schools are not. It seems to me there is at least the possibility that
many public schools will be using more modern and effective teach-
ing materials than many private schools.

Mr. Carey. With the consequences, of course, and effect on the
education of children in those schools. ,

Historically there has been the criticism of nonpublic schools that
their literature is overly permeated with religious content. Has there
been a tendency to secularize the materials in religious schools in the
sense of actually discounting religious permeation in the texts?

er. Locke. I would say, yes, although I am not an authority on
that.

Mr. Carey. Would you say that more and more of the non-public-
school authorities are purchasing materials identical or similar to the
public schools?_

Mr. Locke. Yes.

Mr. Carey, This would be more true in the historically secular sub-
jects such as mathematics, civic, and geography ?

Mr. Locke. Yes. .

Mr. Carey. In your research on the question of how better to handle
the participation of minority groups in instructional materials, have
you had any interest in the actual development of a curriculum and
discipline in this field where special teachers would use special ma-
terials to teach human relations or community relations courses as
subject matter courses in the school and not just trust to the accidental
instruction of the minority with a picture colored as a Negro boy or a
Puerto Rican boy?

Actually, this would be a particular discipline where a guidance and
counselor or teacher would conduct a course in elementary and second-
ary schools and use materials to illustrate and develop this?

Mr. Locke. I had not thought of that quite as you stated but in
many of the social studies courses there is plenty of opportunity to call
specific attention to the problem of intergroup relations. In this
social studies course a good deal is devoted to intergroup relations.
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V}Yhat we are trying to do is to make sure that book is designed to cover
that.

This goes way beyond content and illustration to show we do have
a mixed society.

~ Mr. Carey. Which specific text did you refer to? )

Mr. Locke. This particular one is a text for a course that is typi-
cally offered in the 12th grade called “Problems of Democracy.” This
was published in 1964. .

Mr. Carey. I don’t expect you to express any competence in this
regard but I would comment, on my own, that the 12th grade is a little
late to start telling children about the different groups in our society.
By that time I would expect most of the antipathies would be struc-
tured into the children’s makeup. .

I would think by the time the children reach the 12th grade, it is
a little late to structure their ideals.

Mr. Locke. I think you would find we don’t structure elementary
social studies as we do not publish those. I think you can find ele-
‘mentary social studies where there is a much more forthright discus-
sion now than in the past.

- Mr. Carey. Thank you. I have great respect for your company
in the publishing field.

Mr. Burron. Congressman Hawkins?

Mr. Hawxins. No questions.

Mr. BurtoN. Any questions from counsel ¢

Dr. MarraEw. No questions.

Mr. Rapcrirre. No questions.

Mr. Burron. We are going to defer the viewing of that movie for
the moment and will now call as our next witness Mrs. Rusk.

STATEMENT OF MRS. ALICE RUSK, LIBRARY SPECIALIST, BALTI-
MORE CITY SCHOOLS, REPRESENTING THE AMERICAN LIBRARY
ASSOCIATION

Mr. Burron. We are delighted to have you here.

Mrs. Rusg. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I am
Alice Rusk, library specialist in the Bureau of Library Services of
the Baltimore City Public Schools.

Today, I am representing the American Association of School Li-
brarians, in ‘which organization I serve as a member of the board of
directors; as member of the council of our parent body, the American
Library Association; and as chairman of the Committee for the Im-
provement of School Library Programs. The 9,804 members of the
American Association of School Librarians constitute almost one-
third of the total membership of the American Library Association.

In January 1965, I testified before the General Education Subcom-
mittee, urging passage of the Elementary and Secondary Education
Act. So, I am pleased to have this opportunity to appear before
members of the House Education and Labor Committee today to voice
our sincere appreciation for your diligent efforts in winning approval
of this legislation. :

In the short time Public Law 89-10 has been in operation, dramatic
improvements have been initiated to develop quality library service
for all the Nation’s schoolchildren.
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School librarians have realized through the years, as have all edu-
cators, the value of good literature in building character, developing
-attitu(ies, strengthening human relations, and helping with self-iden-
tity.

Although such realization has been implicit in the book selection e
have carried on through the years, our thinking in this regard was
crystallized in the school library bill of rights, endorsed by our present
;%'rﬁup, the American Library Association, in July 1955, which reads as

ollows:

School library bill of rights: School libraries are concerned with
generating understanding of American freedoms and with the preser-
vation of these freedoms through the development of informed and
responsible citizens. To this end the American Association of School
Librarians reaffirms the library bill of rights of the American Library
Association, and asserts that the responsibility of the school library
ls_

To provide materials that will enrich and support the cur-
riculum, taking into consideration the varied interests, abilities,
and maturity levels of the pupils served.

To provide materials that will stimulate growth in factual
knowledge, literary appreciation, esthetic values, and ethical
standards.

To provide a background of information which will enable
pupils to make intelligent judgments in their daily life.

To provide materials on opposing sides of controversial issues
so that young citizens may develop under guidance the practice
of critical reading and thinking.

To provide materials representative of the many religious,
ethnic, and cultural groups and their contributions to our Amer-
ican heritage.

To place principle above personal opinion and reason above
prejudice in the selection of materials of the highest quality in
order to assure a comprehensive collection appropriate for the
users of the library.

This bill of right appears again in “Standards for School Library
Programs,” a 1960 publication of the American Library Association.
These standards, which are in the process of being revised and up-
graded, are the result of the combined thinking of representatives
from the American Association of School Libraries and 19 other pro-
fessional or public service organizations.

We have serious concerns about the subject matter in books, both
factual and fictional. We have equal concern that the subject matter
be presented in the best style, language, and format, so that we can
devg!op in our boys and girls standards of taste and selectivity in
reading.

To t%is end we recognize the value both of sound literary criticism
and of the availability of selective, but not restrictive, lists. One of
our recent publications is “Selecting Materials for School Libraries:
Guidelines and Selection Sources To Insure Quality Collections,” and
copies of this brochure have been distributed to you. (See appendix.)

If you were to examine all sections of this pamphlet you would
find in each, lists which contain a representative sampling of books
which relate to all ethnic groups and present these groups in a fair
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and unbiased manner. I would direct your attention, however, to the
section entitled, “Lists of Specialized Material.”

Of the 33 lists enumerated, 14 lists have to do with minority groups
and/or human relations and/or reading material for slow or re-
luctant readers. These 14 lists represent 42 percent of the total lists
enumerated within this section.

Many school systems, recognizing the need for identifying quality
books on intercultural relations, develop relevant lists on a local level.
One example I can show you is this list, “The Negro in American Life,”
which was developed by the bureau of library services of my own
school system in Baltimore City.

The AASL Committee on the Improvement of School Library Pro-
grams, when it met in July 1966, discussed at length the necessity for
keeping lists up to date and the responsibility our organization has
for being a source of suggestions for book purchases, particularly in
certain areas of great current concern. Asa result of this meeting, the
following committee recommendation was presented to the executive
board of the American Association of School Librarians: that an ad
hoc committee be appointed to explore the practicality of using data
processing procedures for producing, as printouts, up-to-date lists in
certain areas of concern (examples: early admissions or Headstart
%)rograms ; culturally different), such lists to be available from a central

ocation.

The decision of the executive board was to refer this project to a
newly established division of the American Library Association, the
division of information science and automation, for more expert treat-
ment. We anticipate being actively involved in supplying the raw
material, in other words, the selected books, if this project is under-
taken by that group. ’

Our organization is very much concerred, also, about the kind of
program that is carried on with library books and other library mate-
rials once they are within the schools. To promote excellence in such
‘programs, we are sponsoring a nationwide demonstration project of
good school libraries in action.

This 5-year undertaking, the Knapp School libraries project,® is
‘being conducted with grant funds from the Knapp Foundation. Eight
~demonstration centers, six of which are still in operation, have been
identified in eight schools strategically located throughout the main-
land of our Nation.

A brochure about this project is included in the materials distributed
to you. We are fortunate to have one of these centers at the Mount
Royal Elementary School in Baltimore, Md. You are cordially in-
vited to visit this inner city during the next school year to see the
library program in action. I shall be pleased to arrange visits for any
of your committee who wishes to come. .

Mr. Chairman, I thank you and your committee members for this
opportunity to talk to you about the very important question. I shall
be glad to hear any questions you and the committee members may
have. IfI can answer them at this time, I shall.

1In 1962, the Knapp Foundation—established in 1929 and noted for its many studies
and projects for the advancement of health, welfare, and education—made a grant to the
American Library Association to carry out a 5-year project of the American Association of
School Librarians to demonstrate the educational value of a full program of library services.
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If I do not have the information at hand for an adequate answer,
T shall make every effort to get it for you as soon as possible.

Mr. Burron. Thank you very much, Mrs. Rusk.

Congressman Carey.

Mr. Carey. Thank you. I really have no questions, I just want to
commend and compliment you on the exhibition of text materials and
figures I have been reading through here, “A Selected Reading List
Part 2: For Young Adults.”

I want to keep it and call it to the attention of the board of li-
brarians on which I serve in New York City.

Mr. Bourrow. Dr. Matthew?

Dr. MarraEw. I was very pleased to hear your statement and learn
of the role school librarians are taking in this matter.

I would like to know to what extent school librarians are working
with textbook publishers and schools for the material which goes into
these books?

Mrs. Rusk. I think through the years we have worked with pub-
lishers and had amicable relationships with them. I can’t think of
specific present projects in which we are involved. Publishers visit
our various systems,

Dr. Marraew. I think librarians are closer than teachers to chil-
dren in respect to their reading experiences and therefore can know the
kind of things children look for, their reactions to the things they read,
the distortion about what they read, et cetera.

Mrs. Rusk. I could point out publishers who visit library systems.
_Of course, in libraries the logical person they would have contact with,
if it is a large system, would be the supervisor or director of libraries
to discuss the various kinds of new books and to discuss new pub-
lishing practices. We have this kind of relationship in that these di-
rectors and supervisors are all members of our association.

I would like to point something else out to you that may be helpful
in answering your question. In the American Library Association
when one takes membership one becomes a member of two divisions.
There are five divisions according to the kind of library and eight divi-
sions according to kind of service so that you would find that the mem-
bers of the American Association of School Librarians would also be
members possibly of the children’s services division, and a type of
service for the young adult services division which is another type of
service.

One of the activities of children’s service division annually is the
awarding of the Newberry Medal for the most distinguished book for
young people for the year that was written by an American author,
and the Caldicott Medal, which is an award to the artist for the most
distinguished picture book for young people during the year.

These two awards originated as the outcome of relationship between
book publishers and the librarians in their concern for excellence and

uality.
a Dr.yMATrHEW. Are librarians getting as many books from the
moneys made available by legislation because of the pricing of books
and the quality of them?

Mrs. Rusk. Would you repeat that, Dr. Matthew?

Dr. Matraew. Are librarians able to get as many books for the
‘money made available from the legislation, for example, the ESEA or
the NDEA because the prices of the books are fixed? Or because the
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prices of the books are higher than they might well be if one were buy-
mg trade books as opposed. to books with publishers’ library bindings
an};i t%le;a because of the physical quality of the books provided to the
schools?

Mrs. Rusk. Before I answer that I would like to -ask you this,
‘Would this reflect back to the comment made the first day that because
of the litigation that is going on concerning book pricing, that we
would refrain from commenting in this direction ?

Dr. MarraEW. Yes, but I think we have deviated from that provid-
ing we name no specific publishers. o

Mr. Burron. Yes, that would be all right.

-Mrs. Rusk. 1 don’t know whether I am sidestepping your question
or not, but I would say that school librarians typically are interested
in getting the best value for our money. The purchases we have been
able to make with title IT funds have been within the same price con-
siderations as the purchases that we have been able to make with other
funds that were available before title II funds were available.

Dr. Marraew. Despite theincreased purchasing ?

Mrs. Rusk. I am speaking a great deal from personal experience.
In my own city we always did quantity purchasing so I cannot say
that any greater discounts have been reflected because of title IT.

Dr. Marraew. Thank you.

Mr. Burron. Thank you very much, Mrs. Rusk. 'We will now have
Mr. Lerone Bennett. Mr. Bennett is an author and senior editor of
Ebony magazine in Chicago. Please come forward.

STATEMENT OF LERONE BENNETT, EDITOR AND AUTHOR,
 JOHNSON PUBLISHING CO., CHICAGO, ILL.

Mr. Burron. Itisgood to have you with us.

Mr. Bennerr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

T would like to say first of all I have been specializing in the writing
of books and feature articles on the history of the American Negro in
life and culture. I have prepared a statement and I would like to read
excerpts from that statement, and then I would like to take what I con-
sider a very average American history textbook and indicate some of
the things 1 am talking about in my statement.

Mr(.i Burron. Without objection, the statement will appear in the
record.

STATEMENT OF LERONE BENNETT, JR., AUTHOR AND SENIOR EDITOR, EBONY MAGAZINE

America’s current domestic crisis is a reflection of the failure of our schools to
perform their basic function of preparing youths to live productive and mature
lives in a multiracial society.

This failure is rooted in an ensemble of factors, including the serious distor-
tions and omissions in textbooks and teaching materials. And it is my opinion,
and the opinion of many writers and scholars in this field, that segregated text-
books—the segregated and segregating use of words, symbols, and ideas—are as
dangerous to the internal peace of America as segregated schools and residential
areas. In a very real sense, segregated schools and residential areas are external
reflections of segregated minds moulded by distorted teaching tools in a white-
oriented educational framework, If we integrated all our schools and all our
residential areas tomorrow and if we continued to use the same textbooks, then
all our schools and all our residential areas would soon be segregated again.

It should be apparent by now to most Americans that education cannot solve
the race problem because education is @& part of the problem. That fact was
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evident in recent weeks in Northern cities where rioters demonstrated con-
clusively that hate, horror, and swastikas are the wages of mis-education.
Ironically, the largest white explosion occurred in Chicago which was founded
before the Revolutionary War by a bold black man, Jean Baptiste Pointe Du
Sable. Du Sable built the first house in Chicago and opened the first business
there, but few people know his name, And it seems to me that a solution to our
current crisis depends to a great extent on the opening of our minds and our
textbooks to all the Du Sables and the excluded range of American life and cul-
ture that they personified.

From the standpoint of social utility and from the standpoint of truth, we
are entitled to demand a balanced portrayal of American Negroes, particularly
in history texts. With few exceptions, American history texts defame or ignore
black Americans, To quote the authoritative study prepared by a group of Cali-
fornia scholars: “The greatest defect in the textbooks we have examined is
the virtual omission of the Negro ... The Negro does not “exist” in the books.
The authors of the books must know that there are Negroes in America, and have
been since 1619, but they evidently do not care to mention them too frequently.”
The California study went on to say that the “tone of a textbook is almost as.
important as anything it has to say. In their blandness and amoral optimism
these books implicitly deny the obvious deprivation suffered by Negroes. In
several places, they go further, implying approval for the suppression of Negroes
or patronizing them as being unqualified for life in a free society.”

As an author and as an EBONY MAGAZINE writer specializing in historical
articles, I have examined over the last five years many textbooks now in use in
American school systems. In most of the books I have examined, black Ameri-
cans appear suddenly by a process of spontaneous generation. There is little or
no material on the great African empires of Ghana, Mali, and Songhay; nor is
there a relevant confrontation with the history of black and brown peoples.
before the explosion of Europe in the fifteenth century. Of equal importance,
in the negative conditioning of black and white Americans, is the glossing over
of the extraordinary complexity in the peopling and building of America. Con-
trary to the popular view, black people came to America long before the May-
flower. They were with the first French and Spanish explorers. They fought
with Prescott on Bunker Hill, they were with Washington at Valley Forge, they
were with Grant in Virginia. And if our history has any meaning Crispus At-
tucks, the hero of the Boston Massacre, and Salem Poor, a Bunker Hill hero, ought
to appear on the pages of our textbooks as they appeared in the paintings and
drawings of contemporaries.

With rare exceptions, American textbooks ignore free Negroes and present a.
rose-colored view of American slavery. We are asked to believe that, as a general
rule, black men hugged their chains., We are presented a picture of fat, bappy,.
docile slaves who were almost, as one text says, members of the family. Few
authors explore the implications of the repeated slave revolts; few ‘authors deal
with the Underground Railroad or Negro abolitionists and rebels like Frederick-
Douglass, Denmark Vesey, and Harriet Tubman.

After the slave era, a white curtain of silence descends on Black Americans.
We are told occasionally that black people are happy and that they are making’
progress. But care is taken lest we see them, and they seldom appear onstage-
to speak for themselves. There are few, if any, references to the nameless black
men who helped to create the social wealth of the South and the black politicians
who gave many Southern communities their first public school systems and their
first welfare institutions. We are not told of the individual achievements of”
black men and women like Phillis Wheatley, the colonial poet who was the second’
American woman to write a book; Benjamin Banneker, the astronomer who-
helped to lay out Washington, D.C.; Jan Matzelinger who revolutionized the shoe
industry by inventing a machine for attaching soles to shoes; and Charles Drew-
who helped perfect the blood plasma technique which has saved the lives of so-
many Americans, black and white.

The use of textbooks filled with half-truths, evasions and distortions is
disastrous to both white and black Americans: to white Americans because one
cannot know a great deal about America unless one knows a little about the-
Negro: to black Americans because personal health depends to a great extent on
group self-esteem and becanse the spirit withers and dies if it is deprived of the-
opnortunity to feed on the deeds of great men and the ideals of great movements

Tn eneral. white-oriented textbooks tend to inoculate white Americans with
the virus of racism. giving them a sense of exclusive identification with a land’
created by blood and sweat of men and women of all races and creeds. The
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effect on black youth is equally disastrous. BE. A. Johnson, a Negro historian,
wrote: “During my eleven years as a teacher, I have often observed the sins of
omission and commission on the part of white authors, most of whom seem to
have written exclusively for white children, and studiously left out the many
creditable deeds of the Negro. The general tone of most of the historians . . .
has been that of the inferiority of the Negro. . . . How must the little colored
children feel when he has completed the assigned course of United States his-
tory and in it found not one word of credit, not one word of favorable comment
for even one among the millions of his forefathers, who have lived through nearly
three centuries of his country’s history.” I might add that this statement was.
made in 1891, and that very little has changed in our educational system in the
intervening years. .

It may be that some of our problems with disturbed and angry black youths:
stem from this situation. The pattern of meaning we call education is not
relevant to the lives of black Americans who constitute the majority of the
public school pupils in Washington, D.C., and a majority of the elementary school
pupils in Chicago and other cities. Education does not tell these students who
they are and how they got that way. It does not give them an image of their
condition. It does not corroborate their reality. They do not live in the coun-
try described in the books. The books, the words, the pictures are about another
people who live in another country.

‘Within recent years, there has been increasing public recognition of the
dimensions of this problem. Several big-city school systems are now using sup-
plements. But supplements are at best temporary and inadequate substitutes.
The only solution is an adequate supply of total texts which give a balance por-
trayal of the role and achievements of all Americans.

Although publishers are beginning to offer balanced texts, the supply does not
meet the demand or the need, and I believe the federal government must bring
its resources and powers to bear in an effort to solve the problem. It would
be useful, I think, for the Office of Education to convene a national conference of
publishers, school administrators, teachers, and black and white scholars, in-
cluding officials of the Association for the Study of Negro Life and History.
There is a need also for additional funds for enrichment and supplementary
programs for teachers and administrators as well as students.

Beyond all that, I think it is necessary for Congress to specify that all fed-
erally-funded and federally-assisted programs must use teaching tools and
teaching materials that give a balanced picture of all the people.

Opponents of this view have raised the question of censorship. But in my
opinion, they are 100 years too late. The problem now is not imposing censor-
ship; the problem is ending a de facto censorship which stands between the
American educational system and its historic mission of creating one people out:
of many. .

Mr. BenneETT. America’s current domestic crisis is a reflection of the
failure of our schools to perform their basic function of preparing
youths to live productive and mature lives in a multiracial society.

This failure is rooted in an ensemble of factors, including the serious
distortions and omissions in textbooks and teaching materials. And it
is my opinion, and the opinion of many writers and scholars in this
field, that segregated textbooks—the segregated and segregating use of
words, symbols, and ideas—are as dangerous to the internal peace of
America as segregated schools and residential areas.

In a very real sense, segregated schools and residential areas are
external reflections of segregated minds molded by distorted teaching:
tools in a white-oriented educational framework. If we integrated all
our schools and all our residential areas tomorrow and if we continued
to use the same textbooks, then all our schools and all our residential
areas would soon be segregated again.

It should be apparent by now to most Americans that education
cannot solve the race problem because education in America is a part of
the problem. That fact was evident in recent weeks in northern cities
Wherq rioters. demonstrated conclusively that hate, horror, and
swastikas are the wages of miseducation.
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Ironically, the largest white explosion occurred in Chicago which
was founded before the Revolutionary War by a bold black man, Jean -
Baptiste Pointe du Sable. Du Sable built the first house in Chicago
and opened the first business there, but few people know his name.

“And it seems to me that a solution to our current crisis depends to a
great extent on the opening of our minds and our textbooks to all the
Du Sables and the excluded range of American life and culture that
they personified. '

TFrom the standpoint of social utility and from the standpoint of
truth, we are entitled to demand a balanced portrayal of American
Negroes. American history texts defame or ignore black Americans.

To quote the authoritative study prepared by a group of California
scholars: :

The greatest defect in the textbooks we have examined is the virtual omission
of the Negro * * * The Negro does not ‘“exist” in the books. The authors

of the books must know that there are Negroes in America, and have been since
1619, but they evidently do not care to mention them foo frequently.

The California study went on to say that—

The tone of a textbook is almost as important as anything it has to say. In
their blandness and amoral optimism these books implicitly deny the obvious
deprivation suffered by Negroes. In several places, they go further, implying
approval for the suppression of Negroes or patronizing them as being unqualified
for life in a free society.

As an author and as an Ebony magazine writer specializing in
historical articles, I have examined over the last 5 years many text-
books now in use in American school systems. In most of the books
I have examined, black Americans appear suddenly by a process of
spontaneous generation.

There is little or no material on the great African empires of Ghana,
Mali, and Songhay; nor is there a relevant confrontation with the
history of black and brown peoples before the explosion of Europe
in the 15th century.

Of equal importance, in the negative conditioning of black and
white Americans, is the glossing over of the extraordinary complexity
in the peopling and building of America. Contrary to the popular
view, black people came to America long before the M ayflower. They
were with the first French and Spanish explorers.

They fought with Prescott on Bunker Hill, they were with Wash-
ington at Valley Forge, they were with Grant in Virginia. And if
our history has any meaning, Crispus Attucks, the hero of the Boston
Massacre, and Salem Poor, a Bunker Hill hero, ought to appear on
the pages of our textbooks as they appeared in the paintings and
drawings of their contemporaries.

With rare exceptions, American textbooks ignore free Negroes and
gresent a rose-colored view of American slavery. We are asked to

elieve that, as a general rule, black men hugged their chains. We
are presented a picture of fat, happy, docile slaves who were almost,
as one text says, members of the family.

Few authors explore the implications of the repeated slave revolts;
few authors deal with the underground railroad or Negro abolition-
ists and rebels like Frederick Douglass, Denmark Vesey, and Harriet
Tubman.

After the slave era, a white curtain of silence descends on_black
Americans. We are told occasionally that black people are happy
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and that they are making progress. But care is taken lest we see
them, and they seldom appear on stage to speak for themselves.

There are few, if any, references to the nameless black men who
helped to create the social wealth of the South and the black poli-
ticians who gave many Southern communities their first public school
systems and their first welfare institutions. We are not told of the
individual achievements of black men and women like Phillis Wheat-
ley, the colonial poet who was the second American woman to write a
book; Benjamin Banneker, the astronomer who helped to lay out
Washington, D.C.; Jan Matzeliger who revolutionized the shoe indus-
try by inventing a machine for attaching soles to shoes; and Charles
Drew who helped perfect the blood plasma technique which has saved
the lives of so many Anericans, black and white. ’

The use of textbooks filled with half-truths, evasions and distortions
is disastrous to both white and black Americans: to white Americans
because one cannot know a great deal about America unless one knows
a little about the Negro: to black Americans because personal health
depends to a great extent on group self-esteem and because the spirit
withers and dies if it is deprived of the opportunity to feed on the
deeds of great men and the ideals of great movements. -

In general, white-oriented textbooks tend to inoculate white Ameri-
cans with the virus of racism, giving them a sense of exclusive identifi-
cation with a land created by blood and sweat and tears of men and
women ‘of all races and creeds. The effect on black youth is equally
disastrous. ' :

E. A. Johnson, a Negro historian, wrote :

During my eleven years as a teacher, I have often obServed the sins of omission
and commission on the part of white children, and studiously left out the many
creditable deeds of the Negro. -The general tone of most of the historians * * *
has been that of the inferiority of the Negro * * *, How must the little colored
child feel when he has completed the assigned course of United States history
and in it found not one word of credit, not one word of favorable comment for
even one among the millions of his forefathers, who have lved through nearly
three centuries of his country’s history.

I might add that this statement was made in 1891, and that very
little has changed in our educational system in the intervening years.

It may be that some of our problems with disturbed and angry black
youths stem from this situation. The pattern of meaning we call
education is not relevant to the lives of black Americans who consti-
tute the majority of the public. school pupils in Washington, D.C,
a.I;(‘i a majority of the elementary school pupils in Chicago and other
cities.

Education does not tell these students who they are and how they
got that way. Tt does not give them an image of their condition. It
does not corroborate their reality. They do not live in the country de-
scribed in the books. The books, the words, the pictures, the symbols,
are about another people who live in another country.

Within recent years, there has been increasing public recognition of
the dimensions of this problem. Several big-city school systems are
now using supplements. But supplements are at best temporary and
inadequate substitutes. The only solution is an adequate supply of
total texts which give a balance portrayal of the role and achievements
of all Americans. SRS '

Although publishers are beginning to offer balanced texts, the sup-
ply does not meet the demand or the need, and I believe the Federal
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Government must bring its resources and powers to bear in an effort
to solve the problem. It would be useful, I think, for the Office of
Education to convene a national conference of publishers, school ad-
ministrators, teachers, and black and white scholars, including officials
of the Association for the Study of Negro Life and History. - B

There is a need also for additional funds for enrichment and sup-
gleTentaW programs for teachers and administrators as well as stu-

ents.

Beyond all that, I think it is necessary for Congress to specify that
all federally funded and federally assisted programs must use teach-
ing tfols and teaching materials that give a balanced picture of all the
people.

Opponents of this view have raised the question of censorship. But
in my opinion, they are 100 years too late. The problem now is not
imposing censorship ; the problem is ending a de facto censorship which
stands between the American educational system and its historic mis-
sion of creating one people out of many.

T would like briefly to indicate concretely what I am talking about.
T have here a history textbook which is widely used in America in
the North and South. It is currently being used in Chicago and I
note it is used in South Carolina. Coming in on the plane last night
a young man from Wyoming said, “You are using my textbook.” It
is being used all across the United States and is an excellent example.

Mr. Burton. Would you give the title and date of the publication?

Mr. Bennerr. This book s “Our United States,” copyrighted 1960
and published by Laidlaw.

Mr. Brapenmas. The authorsare?

Mr. Bexxerr. Harold H. Eibling, superintendent of schools in Co-
lumbus, Ohio; Fred M. King, director of instruction, Rochester public
schools, Rochester. Minn.; and James Harlow, ‘Wilson Junior High
School, Oakland, Calif.

T have mentioned there is very little material on black people in text-
books prior to the slave era. This book follows the pattern. There is
one sentence introducing black people into American life in 1619.
They disappear for 200 years; and then we find them as slave people.

Mr. Carey was concerned a few moments ago about the problem of
finding illustrative material to bring black people into American life
and history. I would say there is no problem at all if we used black
people in the places they appeared in history.

For example, here 1s a picture of the Boston massacre. All the
faces are white, Several Negroes were present on that occasion and
several Indians. In fact, a black man, Crispus Attucks, led the Bos-
ton massacre, yet we have a beautiful colored picture of all white

eople.
P S};e’cond, we have all white faces here with George Washington
crossing the Delaware. Another distortion of reality because at least

two black men were in the boat with Washington crossing the Dela-
ware. Two contemporary drawings or paintings indicate that. This
is an example of the complete blackout in textbooks.

Negroes disappear for 200 years and then we pick them up in the
slave period. This particular book has an interesting comment which
T would like to read in part to give you an idea of how black people are
treated in textbooks widely used in America.

Mr. Burron. Cite the page.
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Mr. Bennerr. Page 382, and it is the only example in this book in
which black people are presented as people. These are the only
Negro characters. Tt is the only extensive reference to Negroes and
the only Negro characters in the book. A lieutenant in the Civil War,
a Union lieutenant appeared at a plantation in Tennessee to tell the
slaves they are free.

I will read:

The young lieutenant mounted his horse, sat up straight, and called out
‘clearly : “I have been directed by the President of the United States to read to
you slaves this Emancipation Proclamation.”

He went on to tell them how President Lincoln believed slavery to be wrong
and how he believed it should be done away with. He then read the Emancipa-
tion Proclamation which declared that as of January 1, 1863, all slaves in States
ghieh were at war with the United States were to be henceforth and forevermore

ee.

When he had finished reading the presidential order, the lieutenant folded the
paper and placed it inside his tunic. To his surprise, the Austin slaves showed
1o joy over their new freedom. They stood still, eyeing the soldiers suspiciously.
Finally old Uncle Josephus stepped timidly forward.

“Please, sir,” he said, cap in hand, “may we please go back to our work now?”

“Drat it, man!” the lieutenant lost his patience. “Didn’t you understand
what I've just said? You're free! You can do anything you want, go anywhere
you want !”

“Lieutenant,” Mrs. Austin raised her hand, “they don’t understand what you
have just read. We've kept them pretty much in ignorance of what has been
going on. T'm afraid, we haven’t done anything to make them trust youn. May
I talk to them?”

Now, this distorts reality in several ways. In the first place these
are the only Negro characters presented in this book which is used in
Chicago, Arizona, South Carolina, all across the United States.

Secondly, no mention is made anywhere in this book of the 186,000
soldiers who fought in the Union Army for their freedom. No men-
tion is made of the 200,000 black southerners who ran away from the
South and helped the Union Army as laborers. No mention is made
of the 29,000 black sailors serving in uniform in the Union N. avy in
the Civil War.,

We are presented with one type of character to indicate how black
people accepted their freedom, “hat in hand.”

Another problem of interest, not to me so much but perhaps it should
be of interest to the Pentagon, or someone. Most American texthooks
do a very interesting thing. There is usually a very large color photo-
graph of Gen. Robert E. Lee. There is no photograph of a Union
general. My friend and colleague, Dr. John Hope Franklin, has even
examined textbooks widely used in America in which there are two
large photographs of Gen. Robert E. Lee and no photographs of any
Union general.

Perhaps the moral is: It’s more blessed to lead an army against your
country than for your country.

How did black people accept their freedom after the Civil War? I
think this is one of the truly memorable historic flights of fancy in
American textbook publishing. The black people were free. What
did that mean? This is how black and white children in America
explain the meaning of freedom:

Suppose you were awakened from sleep tonight and told your parents were
gone away and you must look after for yourself?
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The white people were gone, black people are children and this is
the interpretation widely disseminated in northern cities as well as
southern cities.

Mr. Carey. Isthat a specific reference in the boolk ?

Mr. BeNnETT. Yes, it is on page 391. On the next page—

Mr. Carey. Are you reading directly from the book?

Mr. Bexx~err. “Suppose you were awakened from sleep tonight and
told your parents were gone away and had to look after yourself.” It’s
a, direct quote.

On the next page there are references to the fact that black people
participated in the Reconstruction era. The references are uniformly
negative so far as they relate to black people. Weare told money was
{S;Efnt unwisely for various purposes. We are not told a great deal of

s money was spent to create the South’s first public welfare system
and education system, money spent wisely.

There is a reference to the overthrow and Reconstruction. There are
989 remaining pages in this book but there is only one single reference

‘to black people after the Reconstruction period. We are told some
‘black people are moving to the North. There is an interesting dis-
«cussion on the problems of the cities.

What are those problems? Water supply, streets, and traffic, the
‘menace of fire and protecting property. This book even contrives to
discuss at length the slums without once mentioning Negro Americans.

T thank you very much for this opportunity to say a few words on
this subject.

Mr. Burron. Thank you, Mr. Bennett.

Congressman Brademas?

Mr. Brapemas. Thank you very much for your extremely interest-
ing testimony, Mr. Bennett.

On page 3, I believe, of your statement you call attention to the lack
of material in American school textbooks on African history. Agree-
ing that that is probably an accurate description of the situation, would
you not also agree that, this is a reflection of the fact that we just have
not paid enough attention to Africa generally in the United States and
that the whole country has a long way to go in this respect? I, for in-
stance, have been struck by the fact that the Secretary of State of the
United States has never set foot on the continent of Africa.

You do not quarrel with what I haye said?

Mr. Bexwerr. I do not quarrel with what you have said. 1 think it
is indeed a blind spot in our national life. I ould also emphasize that
in order to discuss at any level the history of America, we must realize
that we are a combination of immigrants. We are a nation of immi-
grants. In order to discuss our country, you generally find some brief
discussion of the Old World.

Where did these people come from? We find uniformly, with few
exceptions—just in one or two texts I can think of at this time—you fin:
almost a uniform absence of material or reference to Africa, where the
black people came from. I am happy to note I have seen one book
which discusses with understanding and sympathy the history of
Africa prior to the white man and the contribution Africa made to
world size.

Mr. Brapearas. If T might offer a modest plug for a bill that touches
on this problem, this committee has worked to pass the International
Education Act.
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We have a great lack of understanding of Asia as well as Africa, I
was glad to see that in his message to Congress last February President
Johnson urged that we use some of the funds under the research title
of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 to improve
the curriculum in the field of international studies in elementary and
secondary schools.

I would hope one aspect of that effort would be to give greater atten-
tion to this whole problem of African history and, in particular, some-
thing along the lines of your observations of the contributions of
Africa to the history of the world.

Two other questions, quickly. You livein Chicago?

Mr. Bennerr. Yes.

Mr. Brapemas. Has any systematic study of which you are aware
been made of the extent to which textbooks in American schools, let’s
say in Chicago, or let’s say in some of the big city metropolitan school
systems of the North, let’s forget the question of South for a moment,
l&nd taélei of my part of the country and your part of the country, are

imited ?

Are we aware there is racial bias in the textbooks used in the schools
of Chicago or in the schools of New York, Philadelphia, Detroit, or
South Bend, Ind., for that matter? ,

Mr. Ben~erT. I refer in my statement, I did not read it, to the excel-
lent study prepared by a group of scholars in California. This, I
think, was one of the best studies of hidden bias in textbooks in North-
ern States. That is on page 3 and the conclusion of the California
study was that the greatest defect in the studies we have examined is
the virtual omission of the Negro.

The Negro does not exist in these books. The authors of the Cali-
fornia study went on to examine the various distortions in the
textbooks.

Mr. Brapemas. Who made the study ?

Mr. Bexx~erT. Several scholars in California, including Dr. Ken-
neth Stampp. '

Mr. Brabemas. It might be appropriate to have the citation on that
study for possible inclusion in the record.

Mr. Burron. Would you see that Dr. Matthew gets that study and
we will make reference to it at this point in the record and have it
available in the files of the hearing.

Mr. BennerT. Yes,sir.

(See appendix.)

Mr. Brabemas. On the last page you offer a constructive suggestion ;
namely, a national conference of publishers, administrators, teachers,
and scholars at which this whole problem could be aired and discussed.
This would seem to me to be a very sensible proposal. I think that we
need to give very careful attention, and you point out the immediate
apprehensiveness some of us might have to your other proposed rem-
edy in which you say, “I think it is necessary for Congress to specify
that all federally funded and federally assisted programs must use
teaching tools and teaching materials that give a balanced picture of
all the people.”

I am certainly sympathetic with the purpose of that proposed rem-
edy, but the only concern I would have is working out some kind of
mechanism that would enable us to achieve such a purpose without
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putting the Federal Government in the position of telling people what
textbooks they ought to use, for example, censorship, the problem you
allude to in the next paragraph in your statement.

Have you any comment on how we could walk that tightrope intel-
ligently without our being charged, as I am sure somebody 1s going
to charge us, with wanting to tell people what to put in their text-
books? I don’t think the Federal Government should get into the
business of censoring textbooks or any kind of books.

Mr. Bexnerr. I don’t think it is a problem of telling people what
textbooks they must use. I certainly think it is within bounds to say
simply that it is in accordance with our national goals that teaching
tools and teaching materials be used that give a balanced picture of all
the people all of the time. TWe have had recently on the State level in
several States, California and Michigan, I believe, action by the legis-
lature requiring or suggesting that materials on the history of black
people in America be included in the regular curriculum.

The California-Michigan Legislatures did not, I am sure, tend to
censor anything. On the national level, their approach would seem to
me to be applicable. I would say, after some understanding of the
problems involved, I say it because of the understanding of a fact of a
condition that exists.

This is not the first time in American life that we have grappled
with this problem. As I mentioned, in the first two decades of the
20th century, the Association for the Study of Negro Life and His-
tory fought for a balanced presentation of American citizens in text-
books. I have here an old and weathered copy of a supplementary
tl',qut prepared in 1942 for the Chicago public school system onNegro

1story.

Nothing has been done about it. I am trying to suggest here that
unless there is vigorous action and sustained action on the Federal
level nothing will be done about this problem.

Mr. Braoearas. Thank you very much.

Mr. Burron. Thank you, Congressman Brademas.

Congressman Carey ¢

Mr. Carey. Thank you for your testimony, Mr. Bennett. While we
are at it, the potent observations you make about the history of Africa
and the people of that continent are also typical of our neighbors to
the South. Isn’t it true we neglect entirely the great development of
the Latin American continent? I have found in my experience in my
own city—I come from the district where Henry Beecher once
preached—I have a curious question which I direct to children of
junior high school age of white Anglo-Saxon background. I ask them
pointedly about Puerto Rican citizenship and they hedge on the ques-
tion. They don’t know whether these children are American citizens.

This is because we don’t tell them they are American citizens. We
don’t do well in other areas in addition to the black minority.

Is it not true this textbook is probably an antique in terms of good
teaching in schools in this day and age even though it was published
in 19607 Since 1960 we have seen and heard slogans on thisparticular
point of the contribution of minorities in our country in the last 6 years.
The best I think to be said of this book is that it is out of date. Isthat
correct ?

Mr. Bennerr. I would add it is out of date, but really the book has
structural problems. I think the problem in this book is rooted in the
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structure and concept of this book. I would agree that we do not give
adequate attention to many minorities but I tend to resist the equation
of the treatment of black Americans with the treatment of other mi-
norities in history textbooks for one simple reason and that is that one
cannot teach American history without confronting black people.

You can’t talk about the Civil War without talking about the Negro.

Mr. Carey. The book is only a teaching tool. Is it not a great re-
sponsibility on the part of the teacher who is well prepared in this field
to quarrel with the book ?

Mr. Bex~err. Precisely. I would say because of a great many
problems many teachers, many scholars, in fact, are unaware of many
things concerning the history of black Americans. I will cite one
incident. I was doing an article for Ebony magazine for the Revolu-
tionary War period and called an agency to ask for a picture of George
Washington crossing the Delaware, a picture of Bunker Hill, and one
of the Boston massacre.

The expert in charge of this said, “You are calling for Ebony;
you must be a Negro. I don’t know why you want the pictures, there
are no Negroes onthese pictures.”

T said, “You are wrong,” and he said, “Don’t tell me I am wrong, I
have handled those pictures for 30 years.”

I, ,sa,id, “Go and look. I will hold the phone and then you can tell
me.

He looked at the pictures, came back to the phone apologetically,
and said, “There are Negroes right in the middle. I have been looking
at them every day for 30 years and I never noticed them.”

‘What is involved is that we have a trained blindness in many
scholarly circles. This is why I said we need additional money for
an enrichment of a program for scholars and teachers so they will
know. Many people looking at this picture of George Washington
crossing the Delaware or the all-white picture of the Boston massacre
wouldn’t have the slightest idea what 1s wrong with it. We have to
teach teachers to teach the students.

Mr. Carey. Couldn’t the practice of the U.S. Information Agency
under which it has appropriated funds to encourage authors to write
books, hopefully balanced, be followed so that we could institute these
programs in domestic libraries as we do throughout the world ¢

Mr. Benwerr. Yes.

Mr. Carey. It would seem someone could write a dynamic story
“.’itllll the author recognizing what has happened since 1960 in human
rights.

An author could devote some of his scholarly time to this. He could
produce a better work now by reason of what has happened in our
schools since 1960.

Isn’t it true that if authors will restructure these books to take into
account the progress since 1960, this could be one remedy ?

Mr. Bexnerr. I think that is one remedy. It would be very help-
ful, too, if the Federal Government would help to stimulate authors
and textbook publishers.

Mr. Carey. Isn’t title II an author-encouragement program for
authors? We are spending a great deal more money for new text-
books. We want the contribution of Americans to their own country.

Mr. Bennerr. My experience has been the experience of many peo-
ple involved in this. Unless people are told precisely that we want
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a balanced presentation, it won’t be done unless pressure is applied.
For example, the book I referred to was used for many years in Detroit.
The parents of Negro children in that city demanded a revision, de-
manded that they stop using that particular book, and then some ac-
tion was taken. )

The Detroit school system published a Negro history supplement,
but it took pressure to get some action in this field. I think the Fed-
eral Government should encourage authors and textbook publishers
to publish balanced materials. Let them know there is a market for
the new materials. Let them know also that if they lose, to be quite
blunt, the southern market. they can make it up in other areas.

I think we need some positive sanctions here so the textbook pub-
lishers know they will not lose money. If they lose in some places, they
can make it up in others.

Mr. Carey. I would hope there would be a great deal of pressure
from teaching organizations for teachers to quarrel with what is in
these books that do not square with history. It is not the Bible we are
teaching here. We do need a liberal interpretation. I think it isan
opportunity to dispute the findings in the books.

That wouldn’t cure the problem, however, because the book remains
in the school.

You would find the same distressing facts you have found, but you
%ou%{d use them as object lessons for the students until we improve the

ooks.

Mr. Burrox. One final question. Has the book by Horace Cayton
been updated ?

Mr. Bexnerr. It’s been updated recently.

Mcr. Burrox. What is it called ?

b Mr. Bex~err. It’s called Black Metropolis, and it is in a paper-
ack.

Mr. Burron. Thank you very much.

We will now hear from Mr. Valdez and proceed until the first
quorum call in deference to those who have come from far away.

STATEMENT OF TITO VALDEZ, DIRECTOR, STATE TEXTBOOK
DIVISION, SANTA FE, N. MEX. ‘

Mr. Brrrox. Thank you for coming.

Mr. Varpez. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, I want to
express my appreciation for this privilege and I hope my contribu-
tion will be of some assistance to you.

In the first place I should like to alert you to the fact I am not a
curriculum person and that I am not an expert in the field of textbooks
or other instructional materials. I will read a statement which is
mostly an elaboration on the very brief statement that I submitted to
the committee.

The State school authorities in New Mexico do not make any dis-
tinetion in the treatment of any group in making available State
funds for the purchase of instructional materials. The formula or
policy followed is of general application.

We allocate funds instead of books. These funds are distributed
equally on a per pupil basis to each administrative unit. The schools

in turn submit orders to the State textbook division for materials se-
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lected from the State-approved list according to their needs and avail-
ability of funds.

* In the expenditure of these funds, preference is to be given to basal
materials. These funds may be supplemented by the schools with
moneys derived from other sources. The regular textbook fund was
supplemented by approximately $50,000 from Federal funds for pur-
chases to be made through the State textbook division during the last
school year.

Instructional materials to supplement those purchased through the
State textbook division with Federal funds amounted to over $1 mil-
lion, when about $560,000 was spent from title IT, Public Law 89-10
and approximately $187,000 for textbooks, $109,365 for library books,
$217,000 for audiovisual materials, and $18,120 for other library sup-
plies; or approximately $481,845 was spent for instructional materials
under title I of Public Law 89-10.

Approximately $2 million was spent the last school year by the State
textbook division; and an additional $1 million was spent from Federal
funds for instructional materials purchased, were from Federal funds,
exclusive of materials bought with Johnson-O’Malley and NDEA
funds.

Realizing that today’s textbooks reflect varying educational philos-
ophies, the changing laws of learning, social needs, and varying
points of view,the listing of approved materials is of the multiple type,
and very liberal in listing, so that the local people can select without
much difficulty materials that are best suited to their needs and local
conditions. '

The materials submitted for approval are reviewed and evaluated
by committees representative as much as possible of all sections of
the State and different sizes of schools and communities, rural as well
as urban. These committees have the responsibility of selecting ma-
terials that will become available for use by pupils of all levels of
achievement.

They consider many factors which are of importance in evaluating
hooks for State approval, such as: provision for individual differences
in abilities and in interests; also, conformity with provisions regard-
ing subversive and other unacceptable tendencies. The recommended
evaluation form, among other items, calls for consideration of the
author’s aims or viewpoints, suitability of illustrations, adaptation to
local conditions, and subversive tendencies and influences.

The findings of the field committees are evaluated and reconciled by
the main State committee, which is composed of specialists from the
State department of education ; and recommendations are made to the
State board of education, which is the adopting agency, for their
consideration.

The Jocal schools are at liberty to select from the master list the ma-
terials needed and best suited for their conditions. The local schools
have their own evaluating committees to determine the selections from
the master list for their local school use.

Comparatively speaking, New Mexico is a sparsely settled State;
and its people are noted for their hospitality and friendliness, which
I believe are factors that have tended to override any hate or prejudice
that may have tried to grow.

T am also of the opinion that year after year books are reflecti
more acurately and more fairly the contributions of minorities; an
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the neglected American is becoming better recognized. The State
.board of education in New Mexico, I feel, has not hesitated and will
not hesitate to make available multiethnic instructional materials for
use in the schools as they become available from the publishers and
adoptions are called for.

The Scott, Foresman reading program, Diamond Edition,! which is
multiethnic, was first offered by the publisher at an adoption held last
December and was adopted as a basal reading series. 'We would wel-
come the production of more materials that are properly integrated for
use in the various subjects and grades taught in schools that are rep-
resentative of our multiracial society.

The only school grouping I know of that is, perhaps, based on eth-
nical considerations or racial lineage in New Mexico is the Indian
school system, which is supported by the Federal Government.

The quantity and quality of the instructional materials found in our
schools today have been made possible to a great extent by means of
the funds made available through Federal legislation.

A year ago there were approximately 42,000 pupils or approximately
15 percent of the enrollment attending schools with deficient library
facilities, as related to the New Mexico minimum standards. These
standards are lower than the minimum of $4 to $6 per pupil recom-
mended by the American Library Association ; and also lower than the
naﬁimixal spending median of $2.25 for elementary and $3.27 for high
school.

The minimum State requirement for textbooks is at least one basic
book of recent edition for each pupil for each subject and grade being
taught. The textbook minimum requirement was met by all the
schools; but the minimum is extremely low. Many of the schools
claim that the availability of textbooks is far from being adequate to
maintain the kind of educational program that is needed and desirable.

The Federal support presently being made available through which
instructional materials are being obtained has been of great %elp and
will be needed for some years to come before all of our schools become
adequately supplied with the proper inventory of instructional ma-
terials needed as a start, before we can think of funds only to maintain
the inventories and meat expenses of normal growth.

Thank you.

Mr. Borrox. Thank you very much, Mr. Valdez.

Mr. Brademas?

Mr. Brabeyas. Justa couple of questions.

In your State of New Mexico you have a large number of citizens of
Spanish-speaking origin; is that not correct ?

Mr. Varpez. Yes, sir; in the State of New Mexico we have three well-
recognized cultures, the Indian and the Spanish being perhaps the
first settlers of New Mexico, and also the English speaking, or what is
commonly, locally known as the Anglo. '

Unfortunately, both the Indian and Spanish are strangers at home
with respect to the language. It is difficult for the Spanish speaking
a swell as the Indian to learn English as a second language.

Mr. BrapEmas. My question following those comments is, Do you in
the public schools in the State of New Mexico provide courses in Span-
ish either mandatory or permissive for the Spanish-speaking citizens?

.1 This refers to the small diamond-shaped marking (A) on the spine of the text series to
differentiate it from the circle (®) edition, with all white figures in the illustrations. -
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Mr. Varprz. Tt is permissive and very much highly recommended.
We suffer, perhaps, from the lack of proper material to teach a bi-
lingual child the English language.

Mr. Brabearas. That brings me to my next and only other question :
We have heard about how American Negroes are not fairly portrayed
in school textbooks. To what extent do textbooks in the public schools
of your State in your judgment give adequate attention to the Latin
American heritage that is important in your State, and also to the
heritage of the American Indian as well?

Mr. Varpez. Actually we have not been so concerned with that kind
of representation. 'We have been more concerned in getting the proper
facilities and the means of teaching and offering an opportunity for
learning to the bilingual child.

Mr. Brapemas. Let me press my point a little further. Would a
student in New Mexico’s public schools be more likely in his history
classes to learn something about Latin America than would a student
in the schools of I1linois, let us say ¢

Mr. Varprz. I don’t believe so except for the use of the local history
because the books that we use in New Mexico, including the textbooks,
are used nationally.

The comparison between Illinois and New Mexico in the recognition
of Latin America would be the same in the textbooks.

Mr. Brapemas. Would you make the same observation with respect
to the recognition of the role of the American Indian ?

Mr. Varpez. The same; yes, sir.

Mr. Brapeymas. Without knowing anything at all about your school
system, I would think that would be a little distressing. One might
have anticipated it would be helpful for young people growing up in
your State to have a greater background in Latin American history
than someone growing up in some other part of the country.

Mr. Varpez. I think 1t would be distressing at the more important
points of considering such matters as the contents or the means of
instructing the bilingual child, as far as I am concerned.

Mr. Brabemas. Thank you very much.

Mr. Burron. Thank you, Mr. Valdez, your contribution has been
most noteworthy.

(The statement referred to follows:)

PREPARED STATEMENT BY TITO VALDEZ, DIRECTOR, STATE TEXTBOOK DIVISION, SANTA
) FE, N. MEx.

I am an employee of the New Mexico Board of Education, and it is the policy
of this Board to consider the people whom they serve as being equal and entitled
to equal treatment in every aspect of educational opportunity.

Funds raised within the State are allocated to the local districts on a per
capita basis to children of school age attending school in the State; and no atten-
tion is given to ethnic, religious, or any other difference that would class people
into different groups.

The instructional materials adopted for use by schoolchildren are evaluated at
the State as well as the local level, and we have never had any complaints regard-
ing the content of our materials as being adverse toward any group or groups.
The feeling of discrimination in the field of education with respect to minority
groups appears to be nonexistent; and, consequently, some of the features of
books that might be the cause of objections by minority groups in other States
go unnoticed or areaccepted as not being adverse in New Mexico.

The selection of the materials is made by the State Board of Education upon
recommendation by its main evaluating committee, which serves at the State
level. The recommendation of this committee is not made until the findings
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of the various field committees, which are located in different sections of the
State and which represent different sizes of school systems, are reconciled with
the findings of the State’s main committee. The adoptions made by the State
Board of Education constitute the master list from which the individual schools
may select their materials. The list is of the multiple type, and the individual
schools are at liberty to select from the master list the materials which best
fill their needs in their communities.

On the basis of the attendance reports from the respective school systems the
State-appropriated monies are allocated to the various school systems in the
State, the same amount being allowed for each child in attendance.
 Federal education legislation has made funds available to supplement the
State appropriations and has made it possible to increase the availability of
materials, especially in the library category of instructional materials, to levels
that we would have been unable to reach for a number of years in the future.
In some of the schools the level reached has been barely to ease the degree of
deficiency that existed prior to the federal legislation. Portions of monies from
Title I ESEA, P.L. 89-10, and Johnson O’Malley have been used to supplement
the funds for textbooks and library resources. Title II ESEA, P.L. 89-10,
monies have been spent approximately 11 percent for textbooks and 89 percent
for library and other instructional materials.

The need for this support will continue to exist for some time to come, depend-
ing on the amounts made available; but, very definitely, almost all of our schools
are not adequately provided with these materials to meet a desirable standard,
and some of them are still below the minimum requirements in library resources.
I feel that between 15 and 20 percent of the federal funds expended for instrue-
tional materials is for textbooks, and 80 to 85 percent for supplementary and
library books.

Mr. Burron. Miss Loretta Barrett.

STATEMENT OF LORETTA BARRETT, EDITOR, ZENITH BOOKS,
DOUBLEDAY & CO.

Mr. Burrox. We have your statement, Miss Barrett, would it be
possible for you to synopsize the points you think would be of the
most interest ?

Miss Barrerr. That is fine with me.

First, I would like to say I am an associate editor on the staff of
Doubleday & Co. I am also editor of Zenith Books, and have been
working 6n them since last August and became officially in charge of
them since December.

Zenith Books were developed to aid the teaching of history of the
United States, not Negro, Puerto Rican, or WASP history, but U.S.
history, the whole picture of the vital contributions various minority
groups have made to our Nation in its social, cultural, and political
development.

The series was created by an editor, Mr. Charles Harris, who fully
understood the necessity for U.S. history textbooks to be truly inte-
grated, and who began work on this series as early as 1961.

T first became aware of this tremendous need when I was teaching
history in a high school in North Philadelphia, whose school popula-
tion was 99.9 percent Negro. I found that almost without exception
the textbooks from which I was asked to teach history had either
ignored or underplayed the role of America’s minorities in the build-
ing of our Nation.

It is impossible to fully understand the history of our Nation and
society as it is today unless one fully comprehends the role of the
various groups in forming our country and ceases to try to present
U.S. history as if it were history of a homegeneous society.
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It is essential that students learn the contributions that not only
their group, but also every other group has made to our society, so
that they may have pride in their group and respect for other groups.

I don’t want to see a Negro history or Puerto Rican history but a
united history of all groups. .

I felt strongly that this lack of information was a major factor in
much of the hostility and disinterest that students felt toward history.
Some of my students had spent 12 years in school and had never
gathered an impression of any Negro exept as a slave. In my search
for materials I discovered the first two Zenith books, “Worth Fighting
For” and “A Glorious Age in Africa,” which opened up an entirely
new idea of U.S. history to them.

Zenith books present the history of American minority groups and
are designed for use in junior and senior high school social studies
and English classes. Under the guidance of the series editor, Dr.
John Hope Franklin, professor of history at the University 6f Chi-
cago, we have chosen various periods in American history and com-
missioned studies on the contributions of a particular minority group
during that period.

An example is “Worth Fighting For” by Lawrence Reddick of
Coppin State College in Baltimore, Md., and Agnes McCarthy, which
describes the Negro during the Civil War and the early years of re-
construction. To accompany the narrative history of these periods
we are also publishing biographies of outstanding figures of the period
who we feel have been largely neglected or underrated to date. '

An example of this is “Four Took Freedom,” which is the lives of
four ex-slaves, Harriet Tubman, Frederick Douglass, Blanche K.
Bruce, and Robert Smalls, who played an active role before and during
the Civil Role. This book is by Rayford Logan of Howard Univer-
sity and Philip Sterling.

The books are written on an adult interest level, but with a sixth-
grade reading level. To guarantee both authenticity and the reada-
bility, each book is coauthored by a prominent historian and a profes-
sional writer.

Zenith books are published simultaneously in hardcover and paper-
bound editions, and each book contains approximately 20 illustra-
tions. The hardbound editions meet the specifications of the Ameri-
can Library Association for library bound editions.

We have found that the paperback has a definitive appeal to all
children, especially the slow reader, who has, out of discouragement,
given up hope of successfully handling his textbook and has lost all
interest in reading. To date we have published six Zenith books.

Three of the books are concerned with African history and provide
a background of the great civilizations in Africa and the origins of
our largest minority group. This material serves to develop pride in
this heritage among members of other groups in the United States.

The other three books deal with the Negro in U.S. history. Zenith
Books is a series on all minority groups. We presently have under
contract two books on Puerto Ricans, a Chinese-American history,
and a Mexican-American history. We are planning several books on
’i}Ile American Indian, in addition to further titles dealing with the

egro.

The demands for revision of texts to correct biased and inadequate
treatment of minority groups vary across the country. In the urban
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communities where the school population generally has a large per-
centage of minority groups, the demand for revision is strongest.

The dropout problem has spurred many schools into attempts to
make their curriculum more meaningful to the students, and a major
way to accomplish this has been through the teaching of the role of
minority groups in U.S. history. In some of our more advanced
suburban schools in white communities, there has also been a growing
demand for the inclusion of the contribution of minority groupg
and integrated textbooks.

However, there are many educators and laymen who have seen no
need for any change and many who have resisted the attempt to intro-
duce new materials along these lines. The rationalization is often
given th,at integrated material may be necessary for Negro areas, but

we don’t need that kind of history in our community.”

One of the problems is that many of the teachers within our schools
today have themselves studied a distorted version of U.S. history,
#otally lacking in any consideration of material concerning minority
groups. As a result, they do not have the necessary background to
-teach this material, and without this knowledge, they see no need
~for its inclusion in regular history courses.

_ Others, who have either studied these problems or realize the need
for such material if we are to give an accurate account of history, are
demanding that it be included in the textbooks. When textbooks do
not fulfill this need, many leaders insist on supplementary material
to fill the gap.

Teachers, including student teachers in teachers colleges and edu-
cation programs, should be made aware of the new materials avail-
able in this area and instructed in how to use these materials.

The NDEA Institutes for teachers of the culturally deprived held
during the past two summers are a start in this direction. Many indi-
vidual teachers need encouragement to incerporate the material into
their classes. Some school districts have begun to supply bibli-
ographies on new material, such as the Oakland, Calif., guide on
American minority groups. However, not enough are doing this.

The needs in this area vary according to the range of problems
facing the different communities. In the urban areas where schools
face reading problems and a large dropout population, remedial
reading material is needed so that the students will be motivated by
a reading level they can comprehend.

Education in many areas is so removed from the everyday life of
the student that it has little or no meaning for him. There is a
demand for urban-oriented materials, which will enable the student
to relate to what he is studying. - There is an underground of dis-
content with American education that is coming forth into the open
all over the country. It is demanding that education be made more
meaningful by the making of materials more meaningful. This is
true in all areas of education and in all communities. )

There are many problems involved in the book selection policies of
educational authorities, which put limits on the uses of integrated texts
and related books in schools. The first problem is that the procedure
for adoption is radically different from one State to another and from
one city to another within each State. )

In many areas, committees are set. up to evaluate new materials and
to draw up a list of books that may be adopted for classroom use. The
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frequency with which committees meet varies anywhere from once a
year to once every several years. New material may be developed and
published during the time the committee is not in session, yet it cannot
be adopted or bought for classroom use, since it is not on the approved
reading list.

This leads to a second problem. The classroom teacher is often given
little or no say concerning which books should be adopted for classroom
use. This is done by committee or department heads, and the teacher
is then told what is available. This is often unsatisfactory from the
teacher’s point of view, because the materials he considers most effective
for his particular class may not be adopted or ordered.

A fter due consideration of all the costs, the price of Zenith Books was
decided upon in 1964. The prices for all titles are: hardcover, $2.95
($2.28 net to schools), and paperbound, $1.45 ($1.14 net to schools).
No increase in these prices is presently contemplated.

The needs of the schools for increased expenditures for texts and
Tibrary books will continue to grow in the coming years. Educators
realize that with the explosion of knowledge a course can no longer be
taught with one basic text, but that the student must be exposed to as
many sources of information as possible.

The tremendous increase in quality paperbacks is producing a revo-
lution within the classroom. Material that was once, if available at all,
only in hardcover texts, may now be introduced into the classroom in
paperback books and software material, making possible a greatly in-
creased use of supplementary reading.

This may be more readily adapted to meet the needs of the individual
student than can the more formal text, designed to fill the requirements
of an entire class. As more books become available to supplement the
basic texts, schools must cope with the problem of finding the funds to
purchase these books.

In many of our schools low reading ability is one of our major prob-
lems. A child who is a poor reader, often coming from a culturally
disadvantaged background, generally has come to hate anything that
has to do with reading. This can be done by making books attractive to
him and available through classroom libraries and enlarged school
libraries.

It can also be helped by free books. For years many schools have
given the children free lunches and free transportation. Wouldn’t it
seem logical to fulfill an equally vital need and give the children free
books? The hostility and fear, which many children feel for books,
can be overcome by giving them books which they may keep for their
own.

T have found when a child is allowed to take a book home, two things
are accomplished : The child has a book of his own and can grow used
to it and through it become familiar with the pleasure of reading;
secondly, we have introduced books into a home that had previously
been totally without books.

Additional information on all the participants in the Zenith series
is contained in the attached brochure.

Mr. Burron. We are faced with a problem. We have had our last
warning for a quorum call. We will have to go over to the House.

- We will reconvene the committee at 2 o’clock. If you would like
to come back, we would like to have you.
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We are grateful to you. I apologize for having you testify under
these difficult circumstances.

I would like also to apologize to Dr. Passow and Mr. Quarles. We
will see you at 2 o’clock.

Mr. Brabemas. I would like to say to Miss Barrett that she has
given a superb statement.

Mr. Carey. I would like to add to the comment by my colleague.

Mr. Burrown. Thank you, Miss Barrett.

(Whereupon, at 12:25 p.m., the hearing recessed, to reconvene at
2 p.m., the same day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

Mr. Burron. We will reconvene the hearing now.

I want to thank those of you who were called to testify earlier to-
day for coming back this afternoon.

Dr. Holler, will you and Mr. Quarles please come forward.

I saw Congressman Carey on the floor. He said he will make an ef-
fort to get back here, but he also has two other places to be, so he may or
may not be able to arrange that.

Goright ahead.

STATEMENT OF H. C. QUARLES, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF TEXT-
BOOKS, SGUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION; ACCOM-
PANIED BY DR. J. CARLISLE HOLLER, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF
INSTRUCTION, STATE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OF SOUTH
CAROLINA

Mr. Quartes. Mr. Chairman, I am Henry Quarles, director of the
Division of Textbooks in the South Carolina State Department of
Education.

Mr. Borrox. Could you please move the microphone closer to you.
I think it might help everyone in the audience to hear you.

Mr. Quarces. Mr. Chairman, the information given herein is predi-
cated on the past performance of the State school book commission
which through a reorganization of the State education agencies by the
general assembly became a division of the State department of educa-
tion on July 1, 1966.

The following answers have been prepared for the questions posed
in your letter of August 18,1966 :

(@) This division has since its organization in 1986 maintained a pol-
iC{ ofl equal treatment of all schools and minority groups within the
schools.

(5) The law requires the State board of education to adopt books for
use in the public schools of South Carolina and this office is limited by
law to the distribution of only these books. All adopted books are
under contract for specified periods and changes cannot be made dur-
ing the contract period. .

This division 1s responsible for the administration of the textbook
program and is specifically prohibited by law from having any voice
in the selection of textbooks. Books adopted in the past few years have
more material and illustrations portraying minority races.

In reference to library books, it should be pointed out that the li-
braries, especially in the elementary schools, have heretofore been very
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inadequate. Due to the benefits derived under Public Law 89-10 a
very substantial increase was made in existing libraries and many new
libraries were established. The library supervisor and the librarians
in the title IT program were conscious of the need for books which
would show the importance of minority groups in the development of
our country. The title IT librarians, therefore, prepared and distrib-
uted a five-page special list of books about Negroes and their contribu-
tion and accomplishments. A copy of the list is attached to this re-
port, so that you will have this information available to you. (See
appendix.)

Mr. Burron. May I interrupt you at this time?

Mr. QuarLes. Yes, sir.

Mr. Burron. Isthat the—

Mr. Quarres. No, sir; that is not the item you have in your hand,
Congressman. May I give you this one?

hMr. Burron. Yes; that would be fine. These are mimeographed
sheets.

Mr. Quarces. Yes. State department of education, library service.

Mr. Burron. Ihaveit. Thank you very much.

Mr. Quartes. Under (¢) the State board of education in 1964, and
I might add that this is under a reorganized State board of education
which was reconstituted in 1963, formally adopted a new procedure
for evaluating and rating of textbooks by professional committees with
the recommendations being submitted to the State board of education
for their guidance in making textbook adoptions. This method con-
stitutes a number of professional committees and cannot be explained
briefly. We are attaching, hereto, a complete set of textbook adoption
regulations.

Do you have this?

Mr. Burron. Yes; we will include your reference to the fact that
the committee will have in its files textbook adoption regulations dated
December 18, 1964, issued by the State department of education. (See
appendix.)

Mr. Quaries. This is the procedure by which all textbooks are
adopted in the State at the present time.

Textbooks are assigned to schools in accord with their selection from
the multiple adoption made by the State board of education. All
assignments are made without regard to minority or majority groups.
A complete list of adopted textbooks for use in South Carolina public
schools 196668 is attached hereto: (See appendix.)

The State board of education has approved a list of sources from
which library books should be selected. This source list covers all of
the major evaluating sources such as the American Library Association,
a list from the U.S. Office of Education, Children’s Catalog, Standard
Catalog for High School Libraries, et cetera. Copies of this source list
are attached also. This is the blue-backed book that you have on your
desk, I believe. '

Library books are purchased by each school district and assigned by
the district. _

(d) The administrative coordinator for Public Law 89-10 reports
that $5,223,000 of title I money was used to procure textbooks, library
books and other instructional materials of all types for use exclusively
in the high priority schools. The high priority schools were deter-

71~-868—66——16
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mined by the guidelines for use of title I funds under Public Law 89-10
as approved by the U.S. Office of Education.

Title IT of Public Law 89-10 was used exclusively for library books.
The expenditures for library books from this source was $1,254,000.
The distribution of books from these funds was based on a combina-
tion of enrollment and need. The complete formula is included in the
State plan for title IT as approved by the U.S. Office of Education.

Library books in elementary schools were increased from an average
of 5.44 books per pupil to 7.44 books per pupil. The high school
libraries were increased from 5.04 books per pupil to 6.04 books per
pupil. It should be pointed out that the libraries in many of the
schools were improved to meet the State standards for libraries.

(e) As pointed out above, approximately $6,500,000 was spent from
Public Law 89-10 under titles I and II for textbooks and library books
and other instructional material.

Funds from Public Law 89-10, title I, are needed to meet the needs
of children from low-income families for textbooks and other instruec-
tional material in grades 5-12 where the State has not yet established
a free texthbeok program.

Additional funds are needed under title IT to help those libraries
which have not met the minimum State library standards and to assist
in the purchase of supplementary materials which are not covered by
the State free textbook program.

In regard to the proportion of funds, State-Federal, statistics have
not been completed to show the total expenditures for instructional
materials, therefore. the proportion of Federl funds to the total
expenditures cannot be determined at this time.

Mr. Chairman, we would like to take this opportunity to call to the
attention of the committee the fact that South Carolina isnot assuming
the position of simply waiting on Federal funds but is initiating new
programs and spending additional State funds to improve our public
school system.

The State of South Carolina has for 30 years operated a textbook
program on a fee basis whereby each child paid a fee for the use of
textbooks. In some instances local school districts paid the fee for
some or all grades and a few districts maintained a free textbook
program on their own.

The 1966 Session of the General Assembly appropriated $2,500,000
for a statewide free textbook program in grades 1 to 4 for the public
schools of South Carolina. This bill further provides that the free
textbook program will be extended to include grades 5 to 6 in the 1967—
68 school year and grades 7 to 8 in the 1968-69 school year. This is
the first time the State has made any appropriation for free textbooks
on a statewide basis. We think this constitutes one of the most signifi-
cant steps taken in improving the public school systems in South Caro-
lina in a number of years. ‘

And, Mr. Chairman, I have listed the items that we have furnished
you, which is pretty nearly the printed material that is available for
distribution.

Mr. Borron. Thank you, Mr. Quarles.

Perhaps it might be best to note here that you have made available
to the committee a number of items. These enclosures are spelled out
at the end of your statement.
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Mr. QuarLes. This is correct. .

Mr. Burton. At this point in the record we should have those vari-
ous enclosures noted in the record. ‘

gThe enclosures appear in the Appendix.)

“Textbook Adoption Regula,tions.” )

“Rules and Regulations, State School Book Commission (for Rental
Book System.” '

“Rules and Regulations for Free Textbooks.” .

“A Complete List of Adopted Textbooks for Use in South Carolina
Public Schools 1966-68.”

“List of the Sources of Selection for Library Materials for South
Carolina Elementary and Secondary Schools.”

“Books By or About Negroes.”

Mr. Quarces. Mr. Chairman, we submitted this in as much as we
felt it would be much too time consuming to spell out the details of
these programs. We think they are fairly well spelled out in these
documents. ;

Mr. Burron. All right.

Dr. Holler, would you like to add something to this before we get
to the questions?

Dr. Horrer. Mr. Chairman, no, my purpose in coming is due to
one of the peculiarities of our law which limited the function of the
division of textbooks to that of the management of the textbook dis-
tribution program and did not concern itself with the content of the
textbooks or with curriculum matters. For that reason I simply came
along for the ride, and to answer any question in that field if such a
question were asked by a member of the committee and if Mr. Quarles
wanted to refer to me.

Mr. Burron. Are you the curriculum man ?

Dr. Horrer. I am the director of the division of instruction and that
comes the nearest to being the curriculum man that we have in our
state department. Yes, the curriculum specialists are in our division.

Mr. Burton. Perhaps it might be best if we get down to a few
questions that I suspect you might have anticipated. :

Approximately how many students do you have in elementary and
then in secondary public schools in South Carolina %

Mr. Quarees. There are approximately 665,000. I do not have the
breakdown between the two in my mind.

Dr. Horrr. It will not be far from half and half, but there will be
100,000 more in elementary than in the secondary. Our secondary
schools range in grades anywhere from the seventh on up. We have no
State mandated system there.

Mr. Burton. Of that number, how many of the pupils attending
school are Negroes and how many are white?
~ Dr. Horrer. I can give you an approximation. About 89 percent
are Negro. That would be within 2 or 8 percent of it.

Mr. Burron. How does the school attendance percentage compare
to the percentage of youngsters in the school age bracket in your State?

Dr. Horrer. The term “school age bracket” as used as a national
figure includes the 5 year olds. The public school system in South
Carolina includes only the 6 year olds and above. Therefore, any use
of figures using the national term for school age and then using the
school enrollment figures shows a discrepancy. But in our own esti-
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mation, while there are a great many pupils out of school in South
Carolina, this is nothing like the number of out-of-school youth as is
reflected by, as I said, the national definition of school age and then
the school enrollment. ‘

Mr. Bourron. Why do you not pull that microphone just a little
closer to you.

How many youngsters aged 6 through 16 do you believe you have,
in approximate terms, in gouth Carolina? You have about 665,000
attending school. Putting it differently, how many would not be
attending that are of school age? What would be your estimate ?

Dr. Horier. I don’t have an estimate on that. Our school enroll-
ment figures show a drop-out rate higher than, of course, we are satis-
fied with. It is improving every year. Within the last 6 to 8 years we
have decreased the number of dropouts before the eighth grade to the
point where, among the whites—and this is an estimate—about 90 per-
cent of the pupils who are enrolled in the first grade continue on into
the eighth grade.

We have about 70 percent of the Negroes continuing. That is a
number given from memory. I would much prefer sending you a more
accurate one. Thisis a considerable stepup from what was the picture
6 or 8 years ago.

Now,asyou get on into the——

Mr. Burron. How do you account, for that improvement ?

Dr. Horrer. Well, we have been emphasizing the improvement of
schools. We have been emphasizing meeting the individual needs of
pupils. We have been emphasizing school attendance. We do not
have, as such, a State attendance law at the present time. There is a
strong demand in the State for that, but politics being what it is, you
have to get around to where something will be done.

Mr. Burrox. Is there any difference in that which you have de-
scribegd as a statewide matter and the circumstances in your larger
cities?

Dr. Horzer. Idid not understand the question.

Mr. Burrox. Is there any significant difference in the figures or
percentages we find in your larger cities as distinguished from your
rural areas with reference to either the percentage of students of
school age actually attending school, or the rate of dropout? In other
words, is this a uniform statewide experience or is it more commonly
found in the urban or more commonly found in the rural community ?

Dr. Hourer. Here again I would have to speak from observation and
not from statistics. 1 do not believe we have a wide range of differ-
ence between the group of school districts that would be classified as
urban and the school districts that would be classified as rural. We do
have probably superior general programs, if you take the urban as a
group and then the rural as a group. But we do not have a wide range
of differences because of the fact that in South Carolina so much of
the support of schoolsis given from the State government.

Mr. Burron. From which level ?

Mr. Quarres. The State level.

You asked why the dropout rate has decreased. I think as far as
South Carolina is concerned, there is a greater emphasis and a greater
interest in education than at any time during the history of the State.
This is reflected both in the attitudes of the people toward education
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and in the attitudes of the general assembly in providing funds for
education.

Mr. Burton. Thirty-nine percent, roughly, of your school-age pupils
in attendance are Negro, and that is about 266,000.

Mr. Quarces. 266 is the figure that sticks in' my mind. I am not
sure about it. '

Mr. Burron. What percentage of those students are attending
schools where there was integration in the past school year? What
pelzecentage would you estimate there will be in the school year coming
up?

Mr. Quarces. Do you want an answer to that?

Dr. Horrer. Neither one of us has an answer to that. All T know
is what I read in the paper, so far as this year is concerned. The
newspapers are carrying generally the statement that we will have
about twice as many Negroes attending formerly all-white schools
this year as was the case last year.

Mr. Burron. What is your estimate as to what that number is?

Mr. Quartzs. I think 12,000, as I recall, are the newspaper estimates
fﬁr this coming year. We did not prepare any detailed information on
this.

Mr. Burron. We probably have about 15 minutes for you and for
Dr. Passow because the bells have rung on us again.

Do you have any Negroes on your State board of education ?

Mr. Quarres. No, sir.

Mr. Burron. Do you have any Negroes on the curriculum-establish-
ing committee or committees?

Mr. Quarres. Yes; I think every committee—-—

Dr. Horrer. That selects and recommends textbooks has Negro rep-
resentatives. Every division in the State department that has admin-
istrative or curriculum responsibilities in the schools has Negro mem-
bers of their divisions and on their staff.

Mr. Burron. Congressman Hawkins?

Mr. Hawxins. From the statement that you have given to this
committee, I assume the statements made are with respect to the
reorganized commission and board rather than to the previous ones?

Mr. Quarres. The statements that I made were based, predicated
on the past performance of the school book commission. We had a
rather unique system in South Carolina where we had a number of
State educational agents with separate governing boards and two
of those were poured in under the State board of education this past
July 1. The school book commission was one of those that were
brought under the State board of education directly, which means that
my division is :

Mr. Hawrins. Your statement is made with respect to the new
board of education and the new commission rather than to the pre-
vious ones?

Mr. Quartzs. I had reference here, Congressman, to the fact that
the State board of education itself was reorganized by a constitutional
amendment. It was passed in the general election of 1962 and rati-
fied by the general assembly in 1963, establishing a new State board
of education with one member from each judicial circuit of the State.
This has brought about some policy changes, T am sure, inasmuch as
we have a new board which is largely made up of lay members,
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whereas the previous board was a board appointed by the Governor
and consisted primarily of school administrators. ~

Mr. Hawxins. Is this committee, then, the board which adopts
the textbooks

Mr. Quarres. This is the new State board of education. If you will
notice, we referred also to the various professional committees that
this board uses. This board has only made one textbook adoption
since it has been in existence. In this adoption, they followed the
professional recommendations in their entirety.

Mr. Hawgins. Then are the textbooks which are adopted the same
in all the districts, or do they differ from one district to another?

Mr. Quartes. We have what we call a multiple adoption; I am
sure you are familiar with it. We adopt not less than three or not
more than five books in any subject field. The various districts may
select from this listing which books they prefer using in their own
district. Xach and every district has the same prerogative of choos-
i Our commission in the past could not furnish any book unless
it was taken from this State adopted list, and it must be the choice
of the local district.

Mr. Hawkrns. Is there any basic difference in the textbooks used
in those schools which have been desegregated as compared with the

~ textbooks which are used in those schools and districts which are at
the present time segregated ?

Mr. Quarces. They are all selected from the same list. That red
back book is a list of the adopted books in the State of South Caro-
lina. All schools, regardless of the so-called desegregation, as you
referred to it and those that are still to some degree segregated, all
of them have the same privilege of selecting books from that same
document.

Mr. Hawrrns. I see this list of adopted textbooks, the red back
booklet. v

Mr. Quarces. This is correct.

Mr. Hawxixs. You submitted this to the committee. I see on page
10, for example, in social studies you list a few combination series,
“New Friends,” “New Friends and Neighbors,” and so on.

We have had testimony before this committee which indicates that
in some instances there are differences in these textbooks. Some have
a multiethnic treatment and some do not.

Are you familiar with which of these—

Mr. Quarres. You are speaking primarily of one series or are you
speaking of all reading material? You are talking about reading
material ?

Mr. Hawkins. I am just calling your attention to some specific ones.
If you have other examples it is all right with me. :

Mr. Quartes. You are referring to the group of books at the top of

age 10?
P I%Ir. Hawgrns. Actually the ones at the bottom of page 10.

Mr. Quartes. The bottom of page 10

Mr. Hawxkixs. “New Fun With Dick and Jane,” “The New Friends,”
“The New We Three,” “The New Friends and Neighbors”

Mr. Quarres. Congressman, you will notice all those books have
an asterisk by them. The contracts for those books have expired.
They are being carried only so far as only currently existing stocks per-
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mit. These books referred to with an asterisk, are on their way out.
‘We do not have a current contract for them. If you refer to a group
above that, you will find that it is a new series by the same company.

Mr. Hawrkins. Let’s refer to those which are entitled, “More Fun
With Our Friends,” “Sally, Dick, and Jane,” “Fun With Our Fam-
ily,” et cetera. Would you say that those textbooks have a multi-
ethnic treatment? Would any of those textbooks, let’s say, exclude
illustrations that include persons of all ethnic groups? Or are they
all lily white, as we have discovered, are some of the textbooks being
used in some of the districts as compared with others that are available
which actually portray life and society as they really are? In view of
the fact that 39 percent of your schoolchildren are Negroes, I am
wondering whether or not these textbooks reflect that fact.

Mr. Quagrues. Congressman, let me answer you this way. The
State board of education gave formal notice of an adoption to be made
in the area of reading in grades 1 through 8.

The board accepted sealed bids for this adoption from any and all
publishers that chose to bid. After the bids were opened, there was no
recourse. The evaluating committees had already been established and
had already evaluated the books. This particular company offered in
their bid this series of books. This is the only series of readers that
this company bid to the State of South Carolina. The State board of
education could not adopt a book that was not offered on the contract,
according to law. ' ' :

Mr. Hawgins. With respect, then, to the general adoption, are you
telling me that your evaluation committee does not get into the subject
of content——

Mr. Quarngs. Yes, sir, the evaluation committees do get into the
subject of content.

Mr. Hawxkins. Are textbooks reflecting a multiethnic treatment
used in your particular schools? :

Mr. Quartes. Yes, sir; we do. We do have. Yes. If you will
elzlmmme the books in this booklet, you will find that quite a few are
there

Mr. Hawrins. Could you just simply give us a few examples? I
am not aware of your situation. I am not trying to indicate any facts
by my questions. What I am trying to do is to get some information
from you that may help this committee.

Mr. Quartes. Well, let’s turn back to page 8, the books at the bottom
of page 8 and beginning at page 9. I am sure those have multiethnic
illustrations. I believe the ones at the bottom of 9. I believe some of
the others up there, too. However, Congressman, again I will say that
my duties concern the administrative handling of textbooks. I do not
examine the contents. But there are some books that are multiethnie;
there are some that are not multiethnic. The same choice is available
to all schools.

Mr. Hawrins, I think it would be helpful to this committee if you
could submit to us a list of those books that you have referred to as
being mutiethnic that are currently in use in the schools of your
State. I think it would probably do more to convince this committee
that we are making some progress if we do have some specific illustra-
tions or some specific examples of the type of book that you have just
referred to that you are currently using.
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Mr. Burrox. I would advise, if your schedule permits, we recess and
come back in about 20 minutes. I know your schedule has already been
adversely affected today. :

Mr. Hawrixs. I really do not have but one or two further questions.
If it is all right, we can dismiss these witnesses rather than keep them
20 additional minutes. Then go to the next witness.

Mr. Burrox. Why do we not do this: I will turn the chair over to
you. I will be back at the conclusion of Congressman Hawkins’ ques-
tions in about 20 minutes. Do you want to continue?

Mr, Hawrrxs. Off the record.

(Discussion off the record.)

Mr. Burrox. We will be back in 20 minutes. -

Mr. Quarres. We will be here.

(Briedf recess.)

Mr. Burrox. Permit me to renew my expression of gratitude for
your patience.

Congressman Hawkins was in the course of questioning you.

Mr. Hawrins. Mr. Quarles, the basis of my questions was really
based on the statement that you have made, in which you said:
“Books adopted in the past few years have more material and illustra-
tions portraying minority races.” I was trying to get some specific
examples, the reason for such a statement being made, in what way
this differs from the past, and to what extent this indicates a new
policy of adoption. SR

Mr. Quaries. Congressman, this is a matter of observation and not
one of detailed curriculum study of the books. We do know from our
experience in handling textbooks that some of them have moved into
the multiethnic llustrations and materials; and we do know that some
have not.

Now, the books that are currently adopted were adopted at various
intervals. We make 4-year contracts, with an option of extending
them for 2 additional years if the State board so desires.

Just from observation, we do see a difference in some of the later
adoptions. But, thisisnot based on a study on our part.

As a matter of fact. I have not seen the evaluating report of any of
the evaluating committees who made recommendations to the board
as to specifically which books should or should not be adopted.

Mr. Hawxkixs., The procedure as I understand it is that you have
evaluating and rating committees consisting of professional and lay
people—— .

Mr. Quaries. Not professional lay people. The committees consist
of professional educators and teachers.

Mr. Hawxgixs. Isee, professional

Mr. Quarizs. But the State board is predominantly made up of lay
personnel. They, therefore, have found it necessary to change the
method of adoption that had been used by the old State board of edu-
cation which in the »ast had been a professional group. The present
board now turns to the method of appointing professional people, who
are very knowledgeable in the various subject areas, to examine the
books offered by the public companies and to make recommendations.

Of course we are always limited by the offering of the publishing
companies. If the publishing companies do not offer you a book or if
the publishing companies have not moved into this area and do not
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have books to offer you, you only have to evaluate what you have. I
am not in a position to tell you how these professional committees went
about making their evaluation ; however, Dr. Holler has already indi-
cated that minority race groups were represented in the committees.

Mr. Hawkins. So the adoptions are made for a specified period of
time. Do you know what that period is?

Mr. Quartes. That period of time, Congressman, is for a 4-year
period with the board having the option of extending it for 2 addi-
tional years if it chooses, based on the recommendations of another
curriculum committee that they maintain continuously. The idea
being that, if there are no significant improvements, say, in your
mathematics area from the books that you have at the end of a 4-year
period, it would be expedient to continue your contract for 2 more
years. However, if there have been changes and math has been up-
dated, then your committee would recommend to the board that they
let these contracts lapse and go into a new adoption so as to have the
newest material.

This means that our material is updated at least every fourth or
sixth year, whichever appears to be the most advantageous from an
educational standpoint.

Mr. Hawxins. Now, also in your statement you indicated that
school libraries were very inadequate. How inadequate are they?

Mr. QuarLes. At one time, even at the beginning of this past school
year—Dr. Holler may correct me if I am not correct—but at the be-
ginning of last school year, we had schools for both races that did not
have any library, elementary schools, and——

Mr. Hawgins. Were there very many of these? Have you any
specifications as to the actual number in which there were no libraries?

Mr. Quarces. It was a small number, but there were many that were
very inadequately supplied with library materials. I think you will
notice from my statement that the average increase in books per pupil
was two books in the elementary schools and one book per pupil in
the high school. I might add that many of the schools in the so-
called high-priority groups met the State library standards, while
some of the others did not because of the benefits of title I, Public
L%lw 89-10, which made more money available under the high-priority
schools. '

Mr. Hawkins. You also said that the title IT librarians prepared
and distributed a 5-page special list of books about Negroes and their
contributions and acomplishments. Was this list used and was the
list used both by the white as well as the Negro schools ?

Mr. Quartes. Congressman, the list was distributed, I believe T am
correct in saying, to all schools. It is a printed document and is
listed among the printed documents available from the State depart-
ment of education. It was widely distributed.

Mr. Hawgins. Among all schools?

Mr. Quarzes. Among all schools.

Dr. Horuer. Yes; and the list, of course, comes from the master
list, but it lifts out a special area that will serve a special purpose.
This came about because our library supervisors, Miss Frances Grif-
fith who is a Negro and Miss Jones who is white, prepared this par-
ticular list to meet a particular need as was seen at this particular
time.
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Mr. Hawxkixs. A particular need in all of the schools and not a
particular need in some schools, is that what you are saying?
" Dr. Horier. Yes.

Mr. Hawxins. It was distributed among all of the schools?

Mr. QuariEs. Yes.

Mr. Hawxrxs. I have no further questions. Thank you very much.

Mr. Burrox. Do you believe multiethnic textbooks are inherently
desirable ?

Dr. Hourer. Areyouaskingme?

Mr. Burton. Yes,sir.

Dr. Horrer. I don’t think there is any doubt about that. Edu-
cators throughout the country have for years recognized the fact that
textbooks can never be totally adequate to meet all of the needs at any
given time of the public schools. All curriculum specialists have been
concerned with building the general concept among educators that the
answer to the problem of the schools lies in the use of many books.
This is one of the reasons for the strong support given to title 1T of the
Elementary and Secondary Education Act. It enables children to
have access to many books rather than depend upon one textbook.

Now, not only in the field of library books, but also in the field of
textbooks, educators have felt for years that a teacher ought not to be
textbook-bound, though a text serves a very good purpose as a principal
guide. Most of the States, and I know it is true in South Carolina, have
developed curriculum guides with the idea of being of assistance to
teachers in order to free them from the limitations of a single textbook.
They should have access to enrichment material, additional material,
more in-depth types of materials, to meet the many levels and the
many different needs among their children.

Mr. Burrox. Your State board of education or its equivalent, was
formerly appointed by the Governor ¢

Dr. Horrer. That isright.

Mr. BurTon. Itisnow

Dr. Horrer. Elected by the delegations of the general assembly from
the judicial districts.

Mr. Burton. And your judicial districts—how many judicial dis-
tricts are there?

Dr. Horrer. Fifteen.'

Mr. BurTox. Arethey roughly equal in population ?

hDr. Horrer. Well, roughly; yes. You could use the word “roughly”
there.

Mr. Burrox. Do you have disparity of any more than 8 to 1 of the
largest to the smallest judicial districts? How many judicial districts
in Charleston ?

Mr. Quartes. Charleston is not a judicial district itself, Charleston
and Berkeley Counties make up one district.

Mr. Burron. How many people in the county and Charleston?
About 230,000 %

Mr. QuarLes. Somewhere in that neighborhood.

Mr. Burtron. How many people in the State?

Mr. QuareEes. 2,500,000, roughly, is my memory of the last statis-
tics. That will not missit far.

Mr. Burton. Is it really not a fact that those in education in South
Carolina are no more isolated from the political decisionmaking proc-
ess than educators are generally ¢
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Dr. Horrer. I think thatis correct, and I think the question: ,

Mr. Burron. Arenot your range of alternative avenues, of necessity,
limited somewhat by what people or their representatives view as
important public policy? I suspect that is true in our area. I don’
imagine educators get very far afield from what is essentially the main
stream of opinion.

Dr. Horrer. I think you have two types of educators, one that deals
in the field of ideas, and that tries to pull toward those ideas; and
then there are those who, being more practical in the field of politics,
stay where the support lies. You need both of them.

- Mr. Burron. Dr. Matthew has a question or two, and then we will
get to our final witness before we get to this next rollcall.

Dr. Marraew. First, regarding the statement you made that pub-
lishers have not submitted some of the new books, in particular, those
with the multiethnic treatment, and, therefore, they could not be con-
sidered among the bids that came before the State board.

My question is: Would it not be difficult for the State of South Caro-
lina to supply the schools with an integrated series? Would there not
be objection 1n the communities? Would not parents come to you and
say, “We do not want our children to use these textbooks”? Is not
that the reason why publishers do not submit these to you, because
they know that you would not be able to buy them ?

Dr. Horrer. I would not accept that as being the situation. Those
publishers who did submit them, found them selected over the materials
that they submitted that was not multiethnic. Had the companies that
had multiethnic books submitted them, and had these been otherwise
educationally sound, they could have been selected. Multiethnic com-
position was not the primary issue before the State board at its last
adoption. It was a matter involving a great many principles of educa-
tion. However, I do not believe there would have been any objection
because of the content of the book aslong as that particular content had
Integrity to it.

Dr. Matraew. For example, the Bank Street Readers. Are you
familiar with that series?

Dr. Horrer. No; Iamnot.

Mr. Quarces. Which series is that? Can you further identify it?

Dr. Marraew. The Bank Street Readers, which is published by the
Macmillan Co., is a series that has been quite favorably received. I
do not see it listed among the books in your red list of adopted text-
books. This goes to 1968. Would they possibly have had a chance
to be considered in this last adoption procedure ?

Mr. Quarces. I think we would have to say that certainly publish-
ing companies must have had very difficult decisions to make. I
would certainly agree with that. But in the case of this particular
company we did adopt one of their series of books. I was trying to
remember whether or not it did have any multiethnic illustrations.
I am not sure. But, the series that you referred to was not offered in
this company’s bid, if I remember correctly.

Now please remember I am trying to recall a bid and I could be in
error in that.

Mr. Burron. In order to complete the record, we may have a few
written questions to send to you and if you could respond to them in
due course, that would be helpful.
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We have one further witness who has to get back home tonight.
‘We have about 10 minutes to justify his 8- or 4-hour trip down here.
Mr. QuarLes. We will be glad to respond in any way possible.

Mr. Borton. Thank you very much, gentlemen, for your consci-
entious presentation.

Mr. Quartes. Thank you.

Mr. Burton. We have your statement here. 'Why do you not just
tell us about it. You have been here most of the day, have you not?

STATEMENT OF DR. A. HARRY PASSOW, PROFESSOR OF EDUCATION,
COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

Dr. Passow. Ihave been here since 10 o’clock.

Mr. Burton. Why do you not take advantage of 8 minutes of
educatingus? [Laughter.]

Can you educate Congressmen in 8 minutes

Dr. Passow. Well, I begin my statement by saying that the con-
ditions under which I prepared it were very difficult, I should amplify
that to say it is extremely difficult for a college professor to open his
mouth and speak for the 5 minutes allocated to me, as we usnally speak
for 50 minutes.

Secondly, I prepared this on vacation at Lake Champlain and did
not have the data available to me that I would have liked.

There have been some analyses of the treatment in textbooks of
minorities. I do not need to repeat them. Essentially I think what
has been found true of American Negroes is equally true of other
minority groups. I think one of the problems that we have encountered
in terms of the kinds of books that are published is essentially that
we have not given attention to all of the minority groups in the ways
that we ought to be giving attention to them.

While the American Negro constitutes the largest minority group,
certainly, as you raised the question this morning with respect to the
gentleman from New Mexico, the Spanish-American or Mexican-
American, the American Indians, the Puerto Ricans, the migrant farm
laborers, the urban immigrants, all of whom need to be considered in
the kind of materials that we provide.

The second point I try to make in my statement is that it seems to
me that the major threads of American history, that is, civil rights
and equal opportunity, urbanization, and metropolitanization, auto-
mation and leisure and other things like that are simply ignored as
being too controversial, complicated, et cetera, to need attention.

The main point I wanted to make in my paper is that these cut both
ways. The emphasis, it seems to me, during the day has been in terms
of the minority groups. The consequences of such materials on the self-
image, on ego development, on personal dignity and worth, and what
the child learns and how he learns it, as far as the minority group
child is concerned is pretty well documented in the psychological
literature on learning theory. What we have not looked at is that we
are just increasingly beginning to realize that this incomplete dis-
torted picture has had its consequences on the white majority children
whose education has been equally shortchanged and attenuated. T
would like for us not to think only in terms of what the impact of this
treatment is on the minority groups but the impact on the majority
group as well.
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I point out that I think there has been an outpouring of materials.
I describe the kinds of materials that we have found in just three
summers.

Dick Smith, who is sitting over there waiting to show his film,
about three summers ago presented a paper at one of my work con-
ferences in which he surveyed the American textbook publishers. He
had ﬁ)ra‘ctically, I would say, two or three publishers who had anything
to show.

At my last summer’s conference, just concluded in early June, I
had more than 30 publishers.

The other point I want to add to this is that our emphasis has been
on textbooks and library books, that we have to give a great deal more
attention to the other instructional materials—films, filmstrips, rec-
ords, dolls, materials of that kind, because if we read the Federal legis-
lation the fact of the matter is that many of these materials are pur-
chasable and can be included in the purchases of the schools. In fact,
the day of the textbook as the central thing, I think, is gone and we
have to consider instructional materials much more broa%y.

I presume that the purpose of these hearings is for the purposes of
legislation ; hence I tried to make some suggestions of what I think are
the kinds of directions that legislation might take for the future.

I think I will conclude with that.

Mr. Burron. Thank you.

We would like to have your formal statement appended to that
which you have just concluded. '

(Dr. Passow’s prepared statement follows:)

PREPARED STATEMENT OF Dr. A. HARrRY Passow, PROFEsSOR OF EDUCATION AND
CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON URBAN EDUCATION, TEACHER'S COLLEGE, COLUMBIA
UNIVERSITY

Because of the conditions under which this statement was prepared, it was
not possible for me to undertake the kind of systematic study of the treatment
of minorities in texts that would enable me to present empirical data to support
my position. I am sure that others who have appeared have done so—although
much of what is available still tends to be impressionistic. The comprehensive
studies such as those prepared by the late Howard B. Wilson (Intergroup Rela-
tions in Teaching Materials) ; Lloyd Marcus (The Treatment of Minorities in
Secondary School Tewts); Abraham Tannenbaum (“Family Life in Textbook
Town”) ; Otto Klineberg (“Life Is Fun * * *”); Nancy Larrick (“The All-
‘White World of Children’s Books”) or the University of California history pro-
fessors’ analysis of American history texts—all represent the kinds of analyses
which simply confirm the general impression of sensitive educational practition-
ers that minority groups either tend to be ignored or to be depicted in stereo-
types which are denigrating. :

Marcus’ analysis of 24 social studies textbooks widely used in 1961 validated
the findings by Wilson in 1949—that “the Negroes’ position in contemporary
American society continues to be very largely ignored”; that “American Negroes
continue to be portrayed primarily as simple, childlike slaves and as uneducated,
bewildered freedman”; that scientific knowledge underlying sound understand-
ing of the basic similarity and equality of the races of mankind is absent from
the great majority of the textbooks”; and that “textbooks continue to portray
America as an all-white nation, not as an interracial and increasingly integrated
one.” What Marcus and others found with respect to the American Negroes was
equally true of other minority groups—Mexican-American, American Indian,
Puerto Rican. migrant farm laborers, urban in-migrant, mountain people, etc.

In social studies texts, the major threads of American history in the making—
civil rights and equal opportunity, urbanization and metropolitanization, auto-
mation and léisure—are inadequately treated or even ignored as “too contro-
versial”, “too complicated”, or “too much for tender minds.” In basal readers,
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too much fun has already been poked at the all-white, middle-class rosey, happy
existence of the central characters of such stories to warrant repetition. I
need not belabor this picture of what has been a pattern in textbooks and in
trade book publishing.

Increasingly, the impact of such materials on the minority group child has
been understood in terms of both his cognitive or intellectual development
as well as his affective or emotional growth. The consequences of such msa-
terials on self-image, on ego development, or personal dignity and worth have
finally registered on educators. The significance of the content and presentation
in instructional materials on the involvement of the minority group child in
the school’s basic task of developing the skills, attitudes, and understanding
which will enable the child to participate fully and effectively in American life is
patently clear. And, increasingly schools have realized that the incomplete
distorted picture has had its consequences on the white majority children whose
education had been short changed and attenuated as well.

A combination of forces and factors are changing dramatically the treatment
of minority groups in published materials. In the war on poverty, and in the
civil rights struggle, schools have been called upon to play a central role. There
can be no question that legislation, court decisions, and social forces have already
had an impact on schools and on the publishers and procedures of materials used
in them. For example, three summers ago in connection with our Third Work
Conference on Curriculum and Teaching in Depressed Areas, a survey of some
70 or so publishers produced a few books and related materials plus letters
indicating that work was underway. Last summer the exhibit was somewhat
enlarged. This past summer, some 830 publishers flooded our exhibit room
with materials of all kinds—textbooks, basal readers, library books, films, film-
strips, records, dolls, etec.—which each firm believed was “appropriate for use
with the disadvantaged”.

Appropriate, insofar as materials produced are concerned, may mean the
following :

1. Materials which are multi-racial, multi-ethnic, multi-social class—
through the text or content, the illustrations, or both.

2. Materials which are urban-oriented rather than suburban or small-
town, depicting life in the urban setting with its problems as well as its cul-
tural riches. R

3. Materials which present the contributions of various minority groups
to the American story.

4. Materials which aim at helping to develop an understending of the
world which surrounds children and youth today, through literary and
social science selections (e.g., Martin Luther King’s Letter from a Birming-
ham Jail and James Baldwin’s Blues for Mister Charlie).

5. Materials which draw on the art, musie, dance, drama, and cultural
heritage of many groups and societies.

6. Materials which use the contemporary story of emergmg nations to
help children understand the story of America’s emergence.

‘While there is now an outpouring of materials from commercial publishers,
much remains to be done. Much of the material is patently intended to cover a
piece of the lucrative educational market by “desegregating” illustrations or
content. It literally creates the “basal reader Negro” who is not unlike the
“Company Negro”. Such materials do not provide integrated texts in the
sense of placing minority groups in the natural mainstream of American history
and culture. Often materials are simply tacked on in an extra chapter or ap-
pvendix representing the publishers’ contribution to Negro History Week instead
of presenting the Negroes contribution in its proper place and perspective in
the American story. And, inevitably the sordid behavior of the American ma-
Jority toward various mmomty groups is still glossed over or completely omitted.
Finally, too little attention has been paid to materials for teachers and other
educators to help them with their understanding of minority groups and of how
their behavior and attitudes affect what is learned and how.

I am not entirely clear about the needs for new leglslatlon Already, federal
legislation and support has made possible preservice and inservice training
of teachers to understand better the social psychological effects of minority
group status. Federal legislation has made it possible for schools to purchase
texts and library materials to an extent not possible previously. To the
extent that they are provided with guidelines which will help them select
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materials treating minorities more fairly and adequately, their purchases can
have a direct impact on what the publishers will produce. Federal legislation
might also make it possible for schools to produce their own materials which,
while lacking the slickness of commercial production, may have greater value
in that it emerges from the experiences of the population it is to serve. Legis-
lation could make it possible for schools to “commission” commercial publishers
to produce materials tailored to particular criteria established by schools or in-
terested agencies (e.g. Urban League or NAACP). Finally, federal aid could
encourage researchers to undertake the kind of basic research still not available
which would yield more adequate guidance or valid criteria which should be
applied to development, dissemination and use of materials relating to minority
groups. At present we have some good ideas about what is wrong with the treat-
ment of minorities in texts and library materials; we are less clear about what
are valid criteria to correct the situation.

Thank you very much.

Mr. Burron. Congressman Hawkins?

Mr. Hawxkins. I have no questions. I would like to commend Dr.
Passow on his statement. I have read the statement. I think it is an
excellent statement. I think it makes some very good and specific
suggestions. I wish to commend you on the statement that you apolo-
gized for puttin%lthis together in a hurry. '

Dr. Passow. Thank you.

Mr. Burron. Thank you very much, Doctor. We will probably be
hearing from you again in the course of your studies on the District of
Columbia schools. '

Dr. Passow. Thank you.

Mr. Burron. Miss Barrett, do you have something ?

Miss Barrert. Do you have time ?

Mr. Burron. Thirty seconds. [Laughter.]

You are all going to see that movie. They always say staff counsel
are the eyes and ears of the committee and they are going to demon-
strate that by watching what I am sure is a very important movie.
‘We will not be able to do that. ’

But, Miss Barrett, you did want to say something else, I believe.

Miss BarrerT. An ex-high school teacher has as much problem limit-
ing herself as a college teacher.

The only thing I did not have time to say this morning Dr. Passow
has touched upon. Above and beyond the textbook, I think one of the
greatest needs in the schools today is that we are going to have to start
thinking about supplying free books. We are teaching in our urban
schools a tr